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Financial Highlights

Profit for the year ended 31 December 2015 was HK$65.8 million, grew by 86% compared to HK$35.4 million for 

the last year.

TURNOVER BY MAJOR BUSINESS

303 
Stores
Yoshinoya

292 
Stores
Yoshinoya

10
Stores
Others

NUMBER OF STORES BY BUSINESS

9.8%
Dairy Queen

90.1%
Yoshinoya2015

20142015

Dairy Queen

142
Stores

Dairy Queen

133
Stores

5000 1,000 1,500 2,000 2,500

(HK$ million)

2015 2,050

2014 2,158
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86%
2015 Net Profit 
Growth

EBITDA PROFIT FOR THE YEAR

15,0000 30,000 45,000 60,000 75,000

(HK$ thousand)

2015 65,788

2014 35,365

50,0000 100,000 150,000 200,000 250,000

(HK$ thousand)

2015 203,458

2014 185,475
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Chairman’s Statement

In 2015, China’s economy remained sluggish; the “four highs and one low”, namely, high raw material, labor, rental 
and utility costs continued to adversely affect the profitability of the Quick Service Restaurant (“QSR”) market 
players. In addition, the new “Internet+” era significantly impacted on and accelerated the transformation of the QSR 
industry, resulting in long-term ramifications. In this time of challenge and change, our management has developed 
and implemented various strategies to adapt to an evolving market and prepare the Group for capturing new 
opportunities for further growth.

While the revenue recorded by the Group in 2015 amounted to a decline of 5% when compared to 2014, which was 
mainly due to the difficult business environment, the management’s efforts over the past years to improve the quality 
of the store network by closing underperforming stores has begun to reap rewards. To enable the Group to respond 
to the market change and needs of our customers swiftly, the management has flattened the organisational hierarchy 
to shorten the internal communication process. Together with the implementation of incentive and appraisal scheme 
to motivate staff and imbue them with a sense of ownership, the management has been able to deliver a profit of 
HK$65.8 million for the 2015 financial year, a growth of 86% when compared to the preceding year.

Every organisation has to prepare itself for operating in an ever-changing business environment. While change may 
sometime have adverse effects on a business, they usually bring opportunities that, if captured, allow an organisation 
to grow further. The new “Internet+” era that we are now entering poses challenges to organisations that are only 
accustomed to conduct business in a conventional manner as it brings changes hitherto unimagined, impacting on 
business and the economy. However, new opportunities have opened for enterprises that are prepared to accept 
and embrace change. Consequently, the “Collaborative Economy” (共享經濟) will definitely be one of the business 
directions that the management will steer the Group towards in the coming years. While accepting and adapting to 
changes will allow us to benefit from this new internet era, our management remains fully aware of the importance of 
food safety, which will always serve as the cornerstone of our QSR business. Hence, they are determined to provide 
the Group’s customers with quality food, which is where our motto “Quality of Conscience” (良心品質) derives from.

Looking back, I joined the Group prior to its listing in 1988. At that time, the Group’s business was mainly in Hong 
Kong. Since then, the Group has overcome numerous obstacles and undergone various developments, including 
expanding its business to China and transforming from an edible oil group to a QSR group with operations in 
Northern China. The turnover of the Group is now over HK$2 billion. Looking forward, I can see a lot of opportunities 
coming along with the collaborative economy. In addition, when the current market disturbance caused by the 
countless subsidies of the internet platform players who look for website traffic is over, the choice of the consumers 
will certainly be back to the quality of the food, whose production requires excellent operational and quality control 
which our Group is excel at. Hence, I am confident that, despite the current headwinds, the Group has immense 
growth potential.
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Chairman’s Statement

Having served the Group for almost 40 years and been the Chairman of the Group for 26 years, it is now time to 
relinquish my responsibilities to a highly professional management team. I shall retire as the Chairman of the Board 
on 25 March 2016 and am pleased that Mr. Seto Gin Chung, John will take my place from tomorrow onwards. Mr. 
Seto has over 30 years of experience in the securities and futures industry, with expertise in corporate strategic 
development. Under his capable leadership, I am confident that the Company will continue to grow from strength to 
strength in the years to come.

I would also like to extend a very warm welcome to Mr. Wan Sai Cheong, Joseph who was appointed as an 
independent non-executive director of the Company in February 2016. Apart from being a seasoned accountant, Mr. 
Wan is highly knowledgeable about restaurant operations, department store retailing and mergers and acquisitions. I 
trust that the Board will benefit from his wealth of experience and expertise.

As this is my last report to the shareholders of the Company, I would like to take this opportunity to thank my fellow 
directors, management and staff for the unfailing support extended to me. I wish to also thank our customers, 
shareholders and business partners whom, without their continued support, Hop Hing would not be what it is today.

HUNG HAK HIP, PETER
Chairman
Hong Kong
24 March 2016
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Chairman’s Statement

Heilongjiang

Inner Mongolia

Liaoning
Beijing

Hebei
Tianjin

Jilin

Hop Hing owns the rights to operate the Yoshinoya and Dairy Queen 
QSR chains in the Northern regions in the PRC, spanning across Beijing 
and Tianjin municipalities, Hebei, Liaoning, Heilongjiang and Jilin 
Provinces, and the Inner Mongolia Autonomous Region in the PRC.
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Chairman’s Statement

Dairy Queen Stores

Yoshinoya Stores

Other Stores

142

303

10

Dairy Queen is
A POPULAR
ICE-CREAM BRAND

with over history70 years’

Yoshinoya is
A WELL-KNOWN
RICE BOWL BRAND

with over history100 years’
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Management Discussion and Analysis

OVERALL PERFORMANCE
For the year ended 31 December 2015, the turnover of 

the Group’s business totalled HK$2,050.1 million (2014: 

HK$2,157.9 million). Earnings before interest, taxation, 

depreciation and amortisation (“EBITDA”) for the year 

amounted to HK$203.5 million, representing an increase 

of 9.7% when compared to HK$185.5 million for the 

preceding year. Profit attributable to the equity holders 

of the Company for the year under review was HK$65.8 

million, representing an increase of 86.0% or HK$30.4 

million when compared to HK$35.4 million for the year 

ended 31 December 2014.

Basic and diluted earnings per share for the year were 

HK0.66 cent and HK0.66 cent, respectively (2014: 

HK0.35 cent and HK0.35 cent, respectively).

DIVIDENDS
On 30 June 2015, the Company made a final dividend 

payment of HK0.25 cent per share for the year ended 31 

December 2014. The Directors recommend the payment 

of a final dividend of HK0.25 cent per share for the 

year ended 31 December 2015 (2014: HK0.25 cent per 

share). Subject to approval by the shareholders at the 

forthcoming Annual General Meeting of the Company, the 

final dividend will be distributed on or about 30 June 2016 

to shareholders whose names appear on the register of 

members of the Company as at 10 June 2016.

The amount of f ina l  d iv idend recommended was 

calculated based on the number of ordinary shares in 

issue at the date of approval of the consolidated financial 

statements. These financial statements do not reflect the 

final dividend payable.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BUSINESS REVIEW

Industry Review
In 2015, the catering industry continued to experience 

change, specifically in adapting to the influence of the 

Internet. One after another, traditional catering operators 

have begun adjusting their business to accommodate this 

technology, while branded enterprises have been exploring 

and building their own O2O platforms. In March 2015, 

Premier Li Keqiang included the “Internet+” action plan in 

the government’s work report for the very first time. This 

underscored the growing importance of “Internet+” in the 

government’s national economic and social development 

strategy. The impact of the Internet on members of the 

catering industry is immense and a revolution is being 

quietly conducted. The Group is well aware of the fact 

that the Internet and emerging payment methods have 

been the catalysts for driving the takeout industry’s 

present growth. At the same time, traditional branded 

catering operators have sought to adopt O2O business 

models, including the introduction of online payment with 

enhanced offline experiences.

Aside from the fact that competition among members of the catering industry intensified with the emergence of 

Internet catering, traditional catering operators (including dine-in operations) continued to be confronted by various 

challenges, including the impact of the “four highs and one low”, namely, high raw material, labour, rental and utility 

costs leading to continuously declining profitability. In addition, domestic consumers are paying increasing attention 

to food safety and tend to opt for quality branded catering operators.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BUSINESS REVIEW (Continued)

Business Review
To operate in this challenging business environment, the management developed three operational principles that are 

encapsulated in the maxim: “Efficiency, Effectiveness and Value Creation” (速度、實效及增值). With these principles 

in mind, financial benchmarks have been set to assist in steering the businesses in the right direction. Schemes have 

been devised to motivate team members to have a sense of ownership in the Company and strive for improvements 

in sales and profitability.

Looking back at 2015, which was a year full of challenge and change, a number of measures aimed at bolstering 

sales and managing and controlling costs and expenses were effectively implemented. In terms of sales growth, 

menu optimisation, marketing campaigns, introduction of dinner sets and various new launches all contributed in 

varying degrees to the enhancement in sales.

As for managing and controlling costs and expenses, effective controls over the purchase price of bulk raw materials 

and the adjustment and optimisation of the product sales structure allowed the Group to grapple with food costs. 

Yet other measures included assigning individuals to be responsible for multiple functions to enhance efficiency 

per man hour, and similarly, assigning one manager to oversee two stores to help control labour costs. More 

favourable rental rates and new-store rent control measures also contributed to the management of rental costs. 

The management employed other strategies to control expenses, including the introduction of energy conservation 

projects, optimising distribution routes and streamlining the support centre.

The difficult operating environment has nonetheless resulted in a 5.1% decline in same store sales in the year under 

review, compared to a 1.1% rise in 2014. In addition, the closure of certain under-performing stores since the 

second half of 2014 and the depreciation of the Renminbi during the year under review were also reasons for the 

decrease in revenue in 2015, when compared to 2014.

In the review year, our store opening strategy was adjusted, with emphasis placed on establishing smaller size 

stores to increase operating efficiency and to cater for rising delivery and takeaway orders. The latest version of our 

store design (version 3.0), the theme of which is to fuel up customers for achieving their dreams has been used in 

renovating our new stores and stores that are up for renovation. In 2015, a net total of 30 new stores (2014: net 

closure of 15 stores), including 11 new Yoshinoya stores (net) and nine new Dairy Queen stores (net), were opened 

in existing markets and selected regions. As of 31 December 2015, there were 455 stores in operation.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BUSINESS REVIEW (Continued)

Business Review (Continued)

As at 31 December

2015 2014

Yoshinoya

  Beijing-Tianjin-Hebei Province Metropolitan region 212 206

  Liaoning 69 67

  Inner Mongolia 10 10

  Heilongjiang 10 8

  Jilin 2 1

303 292

Dairy Queen

  Beijing-Tianjin-Hebei Province Metropolitan region 106 103

  Liaoning 22 20

  Inner Mongolia 6 6

  Heilongjiang 6 3

  Jilin 2 1

142 133

Others

  Beijing-Tianjin-Hebei Province Metropolitan region 10 –

Total 455 425

Percentage increase in 

same stores sales

2015 2014

Overall -5.1% 1.1%

By major business

  Yoshinoya -5.0% 1.5%

  Dairy Queen -6.2% -3.2%
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BUSINESS REVIEW (Continued)

Business Review (Continued)
In 2015, the Beijing-Tianjin-Hebei province metropolitan region continued to be the Group’s largest market in terms 

of revenue, with sales income from Yoshinoya products accounting for roughly 90% of the Group’s sales.

2015 2014

HK$’000 % of sales HK$’000 % of sales

a.	 By region

  Beijing-Tianjin-Hebei Province 

    metropolitan region 1,522,984 74.3% 1,608,997 74.6%

  Northeast China (1) 527,069 25.7% 548,876 25.4%

  (1)	 Including Liaoning, Inner Mongolia, Heilongjiang and Jilin provinces.

b.	 By major business

  Yoshinoya 1,846,867 90.1% 1,955,226 90.6%

  Dairy Queen 200,809 9.8% 202,647 9.4%

Cost control remains one of the most important areas of focus by management, particularly in the light of such 

challenging operating conditions. Although the magnitude of increase in raw material costs that we experienced 

in 2015 was less than in 2014, the Group continued to execute its proven policy of strategically procuring in bulk 

key food ingredients without compromising on food quality. Together with our proactive management of the sales 

product mix by introducing product promotion programmes in a timely manner, the gross profit margin of the Group 

has further been improved by 0.9 percentage point from 62.1% in 2014 to 63.0% in 2015.

2015 2014

Gross profit margin 63.0% 62.1%
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BUSINESS REVIEW (Continued)

Business Review (Continued)
While the decrease in turnover has to a certain extent increased the percentage of expenses to sales, the Group 

has been able to achieve a decrease in total selling and distribution expenses, both in terms of absolute amount 

and expressed as a percentage of sales. Although the shortage of labour in the catering industry and the annual 

increase of more than 10% in salaries and wages in the PRC have kept the labour cost as a percentage of sales 

on an upward trend, the management’s proactive negotiation with landlords for rental adjustments amid the difficult 

business environment has reduced the rental costs of the Group in the year under review. Moreover, the change in 

business strategy to build stores of smaller size has helped to reduce rental costs and improve operational efficiency. 

Other store operating costs, including utility and repair expenses, have recorded decreases as well, once the store 

managers and supervisors were encouraged to take greater ownership at work. In addition, the cost effectiveness of 

advertising and promotions has improved through the implementation of successful marketing strategies, including 

strategies that tap internet media, which wields significant influence and has extensive coverage. Furthermore, 

the closure of some underperforming stores in the second half of 2014 and in 2015 has contributed to rental cost 

savings and the decrease in depreciation and amortisation charges in the review year.

2015 2014

HK$’000 % of sales HK$’000 % of sales

Labor Costs 280,193 13.7% 270,564 12.5%

Rental Expense 289,673 14.1% 300,551 13.9%

Depreciation and Amortization 96,769 4.7% 126,747 5.9%

Other Operation Expenses 322,972 15.8% 383,133 17.8%

Total Selling and Distribution Costs 989,607 48.3% 1,080,995 50.1%

While the management will continue to review the performance of the Group’s stores from time to time, the 

majority of provisions for closure costs for underperforming stores were made in 2014. There was a decrease in 

such provisions made in the year under review and the general and administrative expenses have declined by 

approximately HK$4.0 million.

Overall, the challenging business environment has affected the Group’s turnover, and hence, gross profit. However, 

the management’s decisive action to adjust the business and operation model, as well as its commitment to 

maintain a high-quality store network and employ effective management controls has resulted in an improvement in 

store EBITDA percentage by 1.6 percentage points from 17.9% in 2014 to 19.5% in the year under review. Also, the 

net profit of the Group has improved by 86.0% from HK$35.4 million last year to HK$65.8 million in the review year.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Equity
The number of issued shares of HK$0.10 each of the Company as at 31 December 2015 was 10,070,431,786 

(31 December 2014: 10,006,288,386). During the year ended 31 December 2015, 64,143,400 ordinary shares of 

HK$0.10 each were issued to the trustee of the share award scheme adopted by the Company on 20 March 2015 

under the general mandate approved by the shareholder of the Company on 5 June 2014. Details of the issue of 

shares were set out in the Company’s announcement dated 9 April 2015.

As at 1 January 2015, the Company had 26,167,320 outstanding share options. During the year, 300,000,000 share 

options were granted.

Liquidity and Gearing
The Group’s gearing ratio (expressed as a percentage of interest-bearing bank loans over equity attributable to 

equity holders of the Company) as at 31 December 2015 was 0% (31 December 2014: 7.1%). The decrease in 

gearing ratio was mainly attributable to the repayment of the interest bearing bank loans during the year.

As at 31 December 2015, the Group recorded a net cash position of HK$355.5 million (2014: HK$306.5 million) 

(being cash and cash equivalents less interest-bearing bank loans). The increase in net cash position of the Group 

was mainly due to the profits earned during the year.

The Group’s finance costs for the year was HK$1.5 million (2014: HK$1.4 million).

The Group’s funding policy is to finance the business operations with internally generated cash and bank facilities. 

The Group continues to adopt the policy of hedging foreign currency liabilities with foreign currency assets.

REMUNERATION POLICIES
Staff remuneration packages of the Group are comprised of salary and discretionary bonuses and are determined 

with reference to the market conditions and the performance of the Group and the individuals concerned. The Group 

also provided other staff benefits including medical insurance, continuing education allowances, provident funds and 

long-term incentives to eligible staff of the Group. The total remuneration paid to the employees (including pension 

costs, share-based payment and the directors’ remuneration) of the Group in the year under review was HK$398.8 

million (2014: HK$389.6 million). As at 31 December 2015, the Group had 7,705 full time and temporary employees 

(2014: 7,946).



17Annual Report 2015

Hop Hing Group Holdings Limited 

Management Discussion and Analysis

REMUNERATION POLICIES (Continued)
During the year ended 31 December 2015, 300,000,000 share options and 64,143,400 new shares of the Company, 

the vesting of which are subject to the meeting of certain performance indicators, were granted to certain eligible 

grantees under the share option scheme of the Company and selected participants under the share award scheme 

of the Company, respectively. After netting off share awards forfeited during the year, there were 45,023,579 share 

awards outstanding under the share award scheme as at 31 December 2015.

Details of share options and share awards granted under the share option schemes and the share award scheme of 

the Company respectively were set out in the Company’s announcement dated 9 April 2015.

All directors’ remuneration were determined by the board of directors (the “Board”) of the Company after considering 

the recommendations of the remuneration committee of the Company.

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION
Details of the operating segment information are set out in note 4 to the financial statements.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
Details of the contingent liabilities are set out in note 28 to the financial statements.

PLEDGE OF ASSETS
The Group did not have any pledge of assets as at 31 December 2015.

MATERIAL ACQUISITION AND DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES AND AFFILIATED 
COMPANIES
The Group did not make any material acquisition or disposal of subsidiaries or affiliated companies during the year 

under review.

Particulars of important events
Save for the events disclosed in this Annual Report, there are no other important events that occurred after the 

balance sheet date and up to the date of this Annual Report and had material effects on the Group.
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Key Relationships

Employees:
The management is fully aware that human resources are crucial to the continued success of the Group. The 

Group has provided staff with different kinds of benefit, including annual and other paid leaves, medical insurance, 

continuing education allowances and provident funds. For the personal development of our employees, they have 

been provided with in-house training and are encouraged to attend external relevant courses. The Group has also 

set up various incentive schemes, including performance related bonuses, share award scheme and share option 

scheme, to motivate and reward well-performed employees. In addition, virtual partnership scheme was put into full 

swing in the second quarter of 2015 to give the relevant staff a sense of ownership and let them share the results of 

the efforts that they have paid in.

Details of our remuneration policies have been set out in the “Remuneration Policies” section in this Management 

Discussion and Analysis.

Customers:
Being a QSR service provider, we have customers coming from different social classes, regions and districts. It 

is an on-going exercise for us to understand the needs and appetite of our customers. The primary objective of 

our product development team is to launch new and tasty products to satisfy the taste buds of our customers. 

For the convenience of our customers, we have set up call centers and launched website ordering system for 

our customers to place their orders wherever they are. Apart from quality food, the Group has been continuously 

upgrading the renovation of its stores so as to give our customers a feeling of being home. Our customers also have 

various channels, including WeChat and telephone hotline, to let us know which areas of services we could further 

strengthen. The satisfaction of our customers is always one of our key performance indicators.

Suppliers:
Food safety is one of the most important areas that the Group has always put emphasis on. The Group has built a 

stringent internal control system in the selection of suppliers. The system requires our procurement team to assess 

the potential suppliers from different perspectives, including their track records, experience, production ability, 

financial strength and reputation. Newly selected suppliers will be tested with orders of smaller size before they are 

placed with regular size orders. As an on-going exercise to monitor the quality of food and material supplies, the 

procurement team and production team of the Group would meet and visit our suppliers on a regular basis. Our 

teams may give advices to our suppliers on ways to further improve their production efficiency and standard, where 

appropriate. This helps to establish a mutual trust and create a win-win situation for both our suppliers and the 

Group.

Environmental Policies and Performance
The Group is committed to build an environmentally-friendly corporation that pays close attention to conserving 

the environment. We strive to minimise our environmental impact by saving electricity and encouraging recycle of 

materials. We also require our suppliers to operate in strict compliance with the relevant environmental regulations 

and rules and possess all necessary permission and approval from the relevant regulators. Our commitment in 

environmental protection, can be demonstrated by the ISO 14001 Environmental Management System certification 

obtained.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Compliance with Laws and Regulations
The Company is incorporated in the Cayman Islands and its securities are listed on the Stock Exchange of Hong 

Kong. Hence, the Company is subject to the applicable laws and regulations of the Cayman Islands and Hong Kong. 

The Group’s operations are mainly carried out by the Company’s subsidiaries in PRC and therefore have to comply 

with the relevant PRC laws and regulations. The management is not aware of any non-compliance of any of the 

above relevant laws and regulations by the Group that has a significant impact on the Group during the year ended 

31 December 2015 and up to the date of this report.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES
The management of the Group reviews all aspects of the Group’s corporate strategies, including those relating to 

the market, operation and finance, from time to time. Below are the principal risks and uncertainties that the Group 

faces and the measures that the management has taken to manage such risks and uncertainties.

Franchise-related Risks

Risks:
The Group’s franchise business in PRC is subject to the terms of the franchise agreements with the related 

franchisors. The Group’s operation and business will be materially and adversely affected in the event that any or all 

of the franchise agreements are terminated or could not be renewed.

Measures to manage the risks:
The Group’s major franchise agreements for its existing franchise regions have remaining terms (including 

automatically renewable terms under the relevant franchise agreements) of no less than approximately 15 years 

in general. The Group has assigned staff to observe the requirements under the relevant franchise agreements. 

In addition, the Group has constant dialogues and maintained good business relationships with the relevant 

franchisors.

Risk of Outbreak of Food-borne Diseases

Risks:
As a catering service provider, the Group has to rely on its suppliers for food ingredients. In the event that there is 

any outbreak of food-borne diseases, the supply of food ingredients of the Group may be affected.

Measures to manage the risks:
It is the Group’s policy that there should be more than one supplier, preferably from different districts or regions, for 

all the major and key food ingredients. In addition, the Group should maintain adequate stock for its food ingredients  

so as to allow time to source new suppliers in case suppliers from one specific region are affected by any outbreak 

of food-borne disease.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES (Continued)
Food Contamination Risk

Risks:
The Group’s business is susceptible to the risk of food contamination. In the event that there is food contamination 

in the Group and the instance is reported in the media, the business of the Group would be negatively affected.

Measures to manage the risks:
Food safety is of utmost importance to a catering service provider. The Group has a stringent internal control in 

place in identifying and monitoring food ingredient suppliers on a continual basis. There are also internal food safety 

and hygiene policies and standard for the food handling staff to follow. The Group also has quality control teams to 

inspect its stores on a regular and rotational basis. Identified weaknesses will be reported and corrected as soon as 

possible.

Exchange Control Risks

Risks:
As the Group’s business and operation are basically in PRC, the revenue and expenses are principally denominated 

in Renminbi. Payments of expenses and dividends in Hong Kong have to depend on dividend and other income and 

fund remittance from the Group’s PRC operating companies. In case there are any restrictions of fund remittance by 

the relevant PRC government authorities in future, the ability of the Group to settle its Hong Kong debts and payable 

and declare dividends in Hong Kong will be adversely affected.

Measures to manage the risks:
The Group has retained funds in Hong Kong that could meet the payment needs in Hong Kong for a reasonable 

period of time. In addition, the Group has maintained good relationship with banking institutions in Hong Kong which 

have provided the Group with banking facilities to meet the cash needs of the Group’s Hong Kong head office, 

where necessary.

PRC Economic, Political and Legal Risks

Risks:
The Group’s business operations are conducted in PRC and all of its sales are made in PRC. The Group’s business, 

financial condition, results of operations and prospects are therefore significantly affected by economic, political 

and legal developments in PRC. The PRC economy differs from the economies of most developed countries in 

many respects, including the degree of government involvement, the level of development, the growth rate and the 

allocation of resources. The PRC government may implement various measures to encourage economic growth and 

guide the allocation of resources. Some of these measures may benefit the overall PRC economy, but may also have 

a negative effect on the Group.
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PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES (Continued)

PRC Economic, Political and Legal Risks (Continued)

Measures to manage the risks:
Business operations are always subject to the laws and regulations and the ups and downs of the economy of 

the places where they are in. Almost all of the Group’s staff engaged in the Group’s PRC business operations are 

PRC nationals who are familiar with the economic and political environment in PRC. In addition, the Group has a 

designated team of staff responsible for monitoring the economic, social and political development in PRC with an 

aim to enable the Group to prepare itself and make necessary adjustments to its business strategies ahead as far as 

possible. Furthermore, the management would not rule out any possibility of considering opportunities to invest in 

non-PRC businesses that would bring steady long-term growth to the Group to diversify the concentration risks.

FUTURE DEVELOPMENT IN THE GROUP’S BUSINESS

Catering Industry Development Trends in 2016
In recent years, Internet platform operators of all kinds have successively engaged the catering industry, leaving an 

enormous impact on the industry in Mainland China. Though their influence in the traditional catering industry which 

has gradually receded due to an ever-changing Internet world and evolving business environment, we expect that in 

2016, the Chinese fast food industry will face a tougher operating environment and that industry consolidation will 

continue.

In 2015, all major catering brands began to quickly adopt e-commerce marketing. The adoption of e-commerce 

to boost marketing among catering brands is becoming a major trend and the takeout market is viewed as an 

important opportunity going forward. According to the latest information, online food ordering is becoming a 

mainstream practice in China. Given the common preferences and values of certain Netizens, restaurant information 

is being shared and disseminated by social groups on their own accord, which has consequently formed a new 

business model in China.

While the takeout industry was on the rise during the past two years, the overall domestic catering industry has been 

bidding farewell to an era of rapid growth – affected by the macroeconomic environment and policy implications. 

Some high-end catering operators that have experienced a sharp decline in business have shifted their focus to the 

mass market, with some developing well in their new environment. Casual restaurants that offer a romantic mood 

and more sophisticated atmosphere have started to become popular among white-collar workers. Personalised 

“fast-fashion” catering has begun to do well, and signature dishes served in a stylish setting is becoming favored 

among young consumer groups. A leisurely environment, relaxed atmosphere, exquisite meals and personalised 

services are all elements for better meeting customers’ needs.

Future Development Strategy
Though faced with new obstacles in the market, we believe that fresh opportunities also exist. We therefore have 

confidence in the Group’s ability to further strengthen its position as one of the leaders in the fast food industry amid 

ongoing consolidation.
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FUTURE DEVELOPMENT IN THE GROUP’S BUSINESS (Continued)

Future Development Strategy (Continued)
Looking ahead, in terms of marketing strategy, we will take advantage of Internet platforms and tools to directly 

communicate and interact with customers to improve timeliness. To execute O2O marketing strategy, the Group will 

carefully analyse and use the data (such as customer preferences) gathered from networks and social platforms to 

formulate its precise marketing plans to meet ever-changing market needs. In respect of the operating model, the 

Group will vigorously promote the “collaborative economy” to demonstrate the full potential of O2O. Offline, we will 

fully utilise the existing areas of our physical stores, taking into account all of the Group’s current brands. Besides 

seeking to improve the efficient use of store area, our objective will be to maximise the productivity of every store. 

On the online front, we will make every effort to improve the quality and timeliness of associated deliveries in the 

course of vigorously promoting the delivery business.

Risk management and control is another area that we will continue to bolster. Already, our food safety and 

occupational health and safety management systems have earned ISO22000 and OHSAS18001 certifications. We 

will also maintain stringent controls over the quality of raw materials and work with suppliers who share a similar 

commitment to food safety.

The success of a business is ultimately dependent on its ability to retain and motivate its workforce. Recognising 

this, we have employed an incentive scheme which is designed to encourage our staff to take ownership at work. 

Implemented in the second quarter of 2015, the positive effect of this scheme has begun to appear. The full impact 

of the scheme on the performance of the Group is expected to be much more significant within one or two years 

after full-scale implementation.

Apart from the existing QSR brands and business, the Group will continue to look for and evaluate opportunities that 

bring steady long-term growth and advance its strategy to become a multi-brand QSR operator.

VOTE OF THANKS
On behalf of the Group, I would like to thank all of our customers, suppliers, business associates and bankers for 

their unwavering support. I wish to also express my gratitude to members of our management team and staff for 

their diligence and perseverance during the past year.

I would like to take this opportunity to especially thank Mr. Peter Hung, our Chairman, for his excellent leadership 

and invaluable contributions to the Group over the past years and wish him a happy retirement.

By Order of the Board

HUNG MING KEI, MARVIN

Chief Executive Officer

Hong Kong

24 March 2016
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES
The Company is committed to maintaining a high standard of corporate governance practices and procedures. The 

Company complied with the code provisions (“CP”) of the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”) as set out 

in Appendix 14 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the 

“Listing Rules”) during the financial year ended 31 December 2015.

The principles as set out in the CG Code have been adopted into our corporate governance practice. To ensure 

strict compliance with the latest CG Code, the Board will review and regularly update the corporate governance 

policies and practices of the Company; review and oversee the continuous training of the directors and the senior 

management; and examine and monitor the compliance and disclosure of legal and regulating requirements.

BUSINESS MODEL AND STRATEGY
The Board directs the Group’s development of business model and strategy, and the management of the Company 

manages the implementation of strategy and business, follow up on the implementation status and report back to 

the Board from time to time. Details of the Group’s business and financial review for the year 2015 are set out in the 

“Management Discussion and Analysis” section of this Annual Report.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS
The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model 

Code”) as set out in Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules as its code of conduct of dealings in securities of the 

Company by the directors. The Model Code also applies to “relevant employees” as defined in the CG Code.

Based on specific enquiry of the Company’s directors, the directors confirmed that they complied with the required 

standards in the Model Code adopted by the Company throughout the financial year ended 31 December 2015.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Up to the date of publication of this Annual Report, the Board comprised of ten directors, including two non-

executive directors, being Mr. Hung Hak Hip, Peter (Chairman) and Ms. Lam Fung Ming, Tammy; six independent 

non-executive directors, being Mr. Seto Gin Chung, John (Vice Chairman), Dr. Hon. Wong Yu Hong, Philip, GBS, Mr. 

Sze Tsai To, Robert, Mr. Cheung Wing Yui, Edward, BBS, Hon. Shek Lai Him, Abraham, GBS, JP and Mr. Wan Sai 

Cheong, Joseph; and two executive directors, being Mr. Hung Ming Kei, Marvin (Chief Executive Officer) and Mr. 

Wong Kwok Ying. Biographical details of these directors which include relationship among themselves are set out 

under “Directors’ Biographies” on pages 34 to 39 of this Annual Report.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)
The Board has adopted a board diversity policy (the “Board Diversity Policy”). The Company recognises the 

importance and benefit of having a diverse Board that fits its own business model and specific needs in order to 

achieve its corporate goals and strategies. The Company also sees diversity at the Board level as an essential 

element in maintaining a competitive advantage.

The Company aims to ensure that Board appointments will be made on the basis of a range of diversity factors 

including but not limited to age, gender, culture and educational background, professional experience, skill and 

knowledge. Selection of candidates to join the Board will be in part dependent on the pool of available candidates 

with the necessary skills, knowledge and experience. The ultimate decision will be based on merit and the 

contribution the chosen candidate will bring to the Board, having regard for the benefits of diversity on the Board.

The Board accepts that it is ultimately accountable and responsible for the performance and affairs of the Company. 

Although the Board bears overall responsibility for the Company, the management of the Company (including the 

executive directors) is the custodian and administrator of the day-to-day operation of the Company.

The Company noted that Mr. Wan Sai Cheong, Joseph, the newly appointed independent non-executive director has 

submitted his independence confirmation to the Stock Exchange upon his appointment on 2 February 2016. The 

Company has also received a written annual confirmation of independence from each of all other independent non-

executive directors and considers them to be independent under Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.

The Board will meet at least four times a year and on other occasions when a Board decision is required on a major 

issue. Directors may participate in meeting via telephone or video-conferencing link. Board consents are given by 

vote at board meetings and supplemented via circulation of written resolutions between board meetings.

During the year, there were seven full board meetings (including those with voting by communication) and six full 

board circulations. Individual attendance records for full board meetings of the Company are set out on page 30 of 

this Annual Report.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)
Directors understand their respective responsibilities as a director towards the conduct and business activities of the 

Company. To this end, the Company is responsible for arranging and funding appropriate training and activities to all 

directors as and when necessary. All directors have provided their training records for the year under review to the 

company secretary. A summary of training received by directors during the year according to the records provided 

by our directors is as follows:

SUMMARY OF DIRECTORS’ TRAINING RECORDS IN 2015

Training activities
including meetings,

seminars/talks held by
professions/organizations

and/or reading materials
Name of Director on relevant topics

Non-executive Directors

Hung Hak Hip, Peter ✓

Lam Fung Ming, Tammy ✓

Independent Non-executive Directors

Seto Gin Chung, John ✓

Wong Yu Hong, Philip ✓

Sze Tsai To, Robert ✓

Cheung Wing Yui, Edward ✓

Shek Lai Him, Abraham ✓

Wan Sai Cheong, Joseph* N/A

Executive Directors

Hung Ming Kei, Marvin ✓

Wong Kwok Ying ✓

*	 appointed as an independent non-executive director on 2 February 2016 and he has received brief induction on 
appointment.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
The roles of the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer are separated and not performed by the same individual.

The Chairman’s principal responsibility is to ensure effective running of the Board, enabling the Board as a whole 
to play a full and constructive part in the development and determination of the Group’s business model, strategies 
and overall commercial objectives. The Chief Executive Officer is responsible for the overall day-to-day management 
of the Group’s businesses and achieving the business model, strategies and commercial objectives agreed by the 
Board.

The Chairman of the Company is Mr. Hung Hak Hip, Peter and the Chief Executive Officer is Mr. Hung Ming Kei, 
Marvin.
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NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS’ TERM OF OFFICE
The non-executive directors of the Company are appointed for specific terms, subject to retirement and re-election 
in accordance with the provisions of the amended and restated memorandum and articles of association of the 
Company.

DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS
Details of the emoluments of the directors on a named basis are set out in note 8 to the financial statements.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE
The remuneration committee of the Company was established with a particular responsibility to review the 
Company’s remuneration policy for directors and members of the senior management. For details of the role and 
function of the committee, please refer to its terms of reference which align with the CP of the CG Code and have 
been posted on the websites of Hong Kong Exchange and Clearing Limited (“HKEx”) and the Company.

The remuneration committee is comprised of Mr. Cheung Wing Yui, Edward, BBS (chairman of the committee), Mr. 
Sze Tsai To, Robert and Hon. Shek Lai Him, Abraham, GBS, JP, all of them are independent non-executive directors 
of the Company and Mr. Hung Hak Hip, Peter, the non-executive Chairman of the Company. Individual attendance 
records for the remuneration committee meetings are set out on page 30 of this Annual Report.

During the year and up to the date of this Annual Report, the duties of the committee included (i) review and 
approval of remuneration proposal in relation to an executive director; (ii) making recommendation to the Board 
on the fee of the non-executive directors and chief executive officer of the Group; (iii) making recommendation 
to the Board on the adoption of a share award scheme and the proposal to grant share options; (iv) making 
recommendation to the Board on the remuneration of a newly appointed independent non-executive director; and (v) 
making recommendation to the Board on the remuneration of the new Chairman.

The directors’ fees are subject to shareholders’ approval at general meetings. Other emoluments are reviewed by 
the remuneration committee with reference to the directors’ duties, responsibilities and performance and the results 
of the Group. Information relating to the remuneration of each director for 2015 is set out in note 8 to the financial 
statements.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE
The Company has established a nomination committee with a particular responsibility to review the Board’s 
structure, size and composition and to make recommendation to the Board on the selection, appointment and re-
appointment of directors of the Company having given adequate consideration to the Board Diversity Policy. For 
details of the role and function of the committee, please refer to its terms of reference which aligns with the CP of 
the CG Code and have been posted on the websites of HKEx and the Company.

The nomination committee is comprised of Mr. Hung Hak Hip, Peter (chairman of the committee), the non-executive 
Chairman of the Company, Mr. Seto Gin Chung, John, an independent non-executive director of the Company (Vice 
Chairman of the Company), Mr. Hung Ming Kei, Marvin, an executive director and the chief executive officer of the 
Company, Dr. Wong Yu Hong, Philip, GBS, and Hon. Shek Lai Him, Abraham, GBS, JP, both are independent non-
executive directors of the Company. Individual attendance records for the nomination committee meetings are set 
out on page 30 of this Annual Report.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE (Continued)
During the year, the duties of the committee included (i) reviewing the Board structure, size and composition; (ii) 
assessing the independence of independent non-executive directors; (iii) making recommendation to the Board on 
re-appointment of directors; (iv) making recommendation to the Board on the appointment of an independent non-
executive director of the Company; and (v) making recommendation to the Board on the appointment of the new 
Chairman.

AUDIT COMMITTEE
The Company has established an audit committee with terms of reference aligned with the CP of the CG Code for 

the purpose of reviewing and providing supervision over the Group’s financial reporting process and internal controls. 

For details of the role and function of the committee, please refer to its terms of reference which aligns with the CP 

of the CG Code and have also been posted on the websites of HKEx and the Company.

The audit committee is comprised of Mr. Sze Tsai To, Robert (chairman of the committee), Mr. Seto Gin Chung, 

John (Vice Chairman of the Company), Mr. Cheung Wing Yui, Edward, BBS, and Mr. Wan Sai Cheong, Joseph, all 

of them are independent non-executive directors of the Company, and Mr. Hung Hak Hip, Peter, the non-executive 

Chairman of the Company. The chairman of the audit committee has the required appropriate professional financial 

qualifications and experience. Individual attendance records for audit committee meetings are set out on page 30 of 

this Annual Report.

In 2015, the duties of the audit committee included (i) reviewing with the management the accounting principles and 

practices adopted by the Group and discussing with them auditing, internal control and financial reporting matters 

including review of the Group’s audited financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2014; (ii) reviewing 

the audit plan of the Group for 2015; (iii) making recommendation to the Board on the re-appointment of external 

auditors; and (iv) reviewing interim report for the six months ended 30 June 2015. Subsequent to the year end, the 

audit committee of the Company reviewed the Group’s financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2015.

AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION
During 2015, the fees payable to Ernst & Young, the Company’s external auditors, for the Group’s audit services 

amounted to HK$2,388,000. Ernst & Young also provided the Group with non-audit services amounted to 

HK$725,000.

FINANCIAL REPORTING
The directors acknowledge their responsibility to prepare financial statements for each financial year which give 

a true and fair view in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards. As at 31 December 2015, the 

directors were not aware of any material uncertainties relating to events or conditions which might cast significant 

doubt upon the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. Accordingly, the financial statements of the 

Company for the year ended 31 December 2015 have been prepared on a going concern basis.

The responsibilities of the external auditors with respect to financial reporting are set out in the Independent 

Auditors’ Report included in this Annual Report.
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INTERNAL CONTROL
The Board is responsible for the Group’s system of internal control that is designed to facilitate effective and efficient 

operations and to ensure the quality of internal and external reporting and its compliance with the applicable laws 

and regulations. In devising the internal controls, the Group has evaluated the nature and the extent of the risk, the 

likelihood of it crystallizing and the cost of controls. A system of internal control is designed to manage, but not 

eliminate, the risk of failure to achieve business objectives and provide reasonable and not absolute, assurance 

against the risk of material misstatement, fraud or losses.

The Board, with the assistance of its audit committee, assesses the effectiveness of the internal control of the Group 

by considering reviews performed by the management and the independent auditors and the internal assessment 

report outsourced and performed by a firm of qualified accountants. Reviews for the financial year ended 31 

December 2015 did not reveal any significant defects.

The aforesaid is an ongoing process for identifying, evaluating and managing of significant business, financial, 

compliance and operational risks specific to the Group. Relevant recommendations made by the audit committee, 

the independent auditors and the external accountants who performed reviews at least annually would be 

implemented, if appropriate, as soon as possible by the Group to further enhance its internal control policies, 

procedures and practices.

As always, the Board is committed to the compliance of the new CP of the CG Code as amended and became 

effective for the Company’s accounting period beginning on 1 January 2016 in relation to risk management and 

internal control.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Convening an extraordinary general meeting and putting forward proposals at general meetings
Pursuant to Article 64 of the Company’s Memorandum and Articles of Association, one or more shareholders holding 

not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company shall have the right to deposit a written requisition 

to the Board, or the secretary of the Board, specifying the requested business to be considered and, if the Board 

thinks fit, the Board will proceed to convene an extraordinary general meeting (“EGM”) for the business specified 

in such requisition. If within 21 days of such deposit of written requisition, the Board fails to proceed to convene 

such EGM, the requesting shareholder(s) himself (themselves) may do so in the same manner, and all reasonable 

expenses incurred by him (them) as a result of the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to him (them) by the 

Company.

Procedures for shareholders to propose a person for election as a director
Pursuant to Article 113 of the Company’s Memorandum and Articles of Association, shareholder may lodge a notice 

in writing of the intention to propose a person for election as a Director and a notice in writing by that person of his 

willingness to be elected at the Company’s Head Office or at the Company’s Registered Office provided that the 

period for lodgment of the notices required will commence no earlier than the day after the dispatch of the notice of 

general meeting appointed for such election and end no later than 7 days prior to the date of such general meeting 

and where such period shall be at least 7 days.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS (Continued)

Procedures for shareholders to propose a person for election as a director (Continued)
Shareholder should note that election of a Director of the Company is subject to other relevant parts of the 

Company’s Memorandum and Articles of Association, the Listing Rules, and applicable laws in Cayman Islands and 

Hong Kong.

Head Office : Flats E&F, 2/F, Hop Hing Building, 9 Ping Tong Street East, 

Tong Yan San Tsuen, Yuen Long, New Territories, Hong Kong

Registered Office : Clifton House, 75 Fort Street, P.O. Box 1350, Grand Cayman, 

KY1-1108, Cayman Islands

Sending enquiries to the Board
Shareholders may raise their enquiries to the Board at the general meetings of the Company or may at any time 

send their written enquiries to the Board by delivering it to the company secretary of the Company whose contact 

details are as follows:

Hop Hing Group Holdings Limited

Flats E&F, 2/F, Hop Hing Building

9 Ping Tong Street East, Tong Yan San Tsuen

Yuen Long, New Territories

Hong Kong

Tel:	 852-2785 2681

Fax:	 852-2786 2155

Email:	 ir@hophing.com

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS
There was no change to the Company’s Memorandum and Articles of Association during the year 2015. A copy of 

the consolidated version of the Memorandum and Articles of Association has been posted on the websites of HKEx 

and the Company.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS
The Board maintains an ongoing and transparent communication with all shareholders and, in particular, will 

communicate with shareholders in general meetings and encourage their participation. The Company will also 

communicate with its shareholders by various other means, such as publication of annual and interim reports, 

announcements, circulars and additional information on the Group’s business activities and development on the 

Company’s website: http://www.hophing.com. A shareholders’ communication policy of the Company has been 

established and posted on the Company’s website.
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DIRECTORS’/COMMITTEE MEMBERS’ ATTENDANCE IN 2015

Meetings attended/eligible to attend

Name of Director

Full 

Board

Audit 

Committee

Remuneration 

Committee

Nomination 

Committee

Annual 

General 

Meeting#

Non-executive Directors

Hung Hak Hip, Peter

  (Chairman of the Board and 

    of the nomination committee) 6/7 2/2 1/1 1/1 1/1

Lam Fung Ming, Tammy 7/7 N/A N/A N/A 1/1

Independent Non-executive Directors

Seto Gin Chung, John

  (Vice Chairman of the Board) 6/7 2/2 N/A 1/1 1/1

Wong Yu Hong, Philip 5/7 N/A N/A 1/1 1/1

Sze Tsai To, Robert

  (Chairman of the audit committee) 6/7 2/2 1/1 N/A 1/1

Cheung Wing Yui, Edward

  (Chairman of the remuneration committee) 6/7 2/2 1/1 N/A 1/1

Shek Lai Him, Abraham 6/7 N/A 1/1 1/1 1/1

Siu Wai Keung* 3/3 N/A N/A N/A N/A

Wan Sai Cheong, Joseph** N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A

Executive Directors

Hung Ming Kei, Marvin

  (Chief Executive Officer) 7/7 N/A N/A 1/1 1/1

Wong Kwok Ying 7/7 N/A N/A N/A 1/1

*	 Mr. Siu Wai Keung resigned on 1 May 2015
**	 Mr. Wan Sai Cheong, Joseph was appointed on 2 February 2016
#	 2015 annual general meeting of the Company was held on 1 June 2015
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The directors of the Company (the “Directors”) are pleased to present their report and the audited financial 

statements of the Company and the Group for the year ended 31 December 2015.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES
The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The subsidiaries of the Group are principally engaged 

in the operation of quick service restaurant chain business (“QSR Business”), primarily selling rice bowl under the 

brand name of Yoshinoya (吉野家) and ice-cream under the brand name of Dairy Queen (冰雪皇后), in Northern 

China. Details of the principal subsidiaries of the Group are set out in note 32 to the financial statements.

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS
The principal place of business of the Company in Hong Kong was changed to Flats E & F, 2/F, Hop Hing Building, 

9 Ping Tong Street East, Tong Yan San Tsuen, Yuen Long, New Territories, Hong Kong on 28 June 2015.

BUSINESS REVIEW
A review of the Group’s business, a description of the principal risks and uncertainties of the Group, the 

performance of the Group in the period under review with reference to key financial performance indicators, the 

particulars of important events, key relationships, the environmental policies and performance, the compliance with 

laws and regulations and indications of likely future development in the Group’s business have been included in the 

“Management Discussion and Analysis” section of this Annual Report which forms part of this report.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS
The Group’s profits for the year ended 31 December 2015 and the Group’s financial position at that date are set out 

in the financial statements on pages 49 to 102.

Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, on 24 March 2016, the directors recommended the payment of a 

final dividend of HK0.25 cent per share for the year ended 31 December 2015 (2014: HK0.25 cent per share). The 

recommended final dividend which is subject to the approval of the Company’s shareholders at the forthcoming 

annual general meeting (“AGM”) to be held on 3 June 2016 will be payable to shareholders whose names appear on 

the register of members of the Company at the close of business on 10 June 2016. These financial statements do 

not reflect the recommended final dividend payable.

SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION
A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group for the last five financial years, is set out on 

pages 103 to 104. This summary does not form part of the audited financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL 
Details of the share capital and shares issued in the year ended 31 December 2015 are set out in note 22 to the 

financial statements.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES
Details of the distributable reserves of the Company are set out in note 31 to the financial statements.
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PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF OWN LISTED SECURITIES
During the year ended 31 December 2015, the trustee of the Company’s share award scheme (“Share Award 

Scheme”) as adopted on 20 March 2015 purchased on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock 

Exchange”) a total of 2,760,000 shares of the Company at a total consideration of approximately HK$328,000. As 

the shares are held by the trustee for the award of shares pursuant to the Share Award Scheme and the trust deed, 

and the shares were therefore not cancelled. Apart from the above, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries 

had purchased, sold or redeemed the Company’s listed securities during the year ended 31 December 2015.

DIRECTORS
The directors of the Company during the year and up to the date of this report were:

Hung Hak Hip, Peter* (Chairman)

Seto Gin Chung, John** (Vice Chairman)

Hung Ming Kei, Marvin# (Chief Executive Officer)

Wong Yu Hong, Philip**

Sze Tsai To, Robert**

Cheung Wing Yui, Edward**

Shek Lai Him, Abraham**

Siu Wai Keung**	 (resigned on 1 May 2015)

Wan Sai Cheong, Joseph**	 (appointed on 2 February 2016)

Lam Fung Ming, Tammy*

Wong Kwok Ying#

*	 Non-executive director
**	 Independent non-executive director
#	 Executive director

All directors are subject to retirement by rotation and re-election at the AGM of the Company in accordance with 

the provisions of the Company’s amended and restated memorandum and articles of association. At the AGM, Mr. 

Seto Gin Chung, John, Mr. Cheung Wing Yui, Edward, BBS, Mr. Wan Sai Cheong, Joseph and Ms. Lam Fung Ming, 

Tammy will retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election.

During the year, Mr. Siu Wai Keung tendered his written resignation as an independent non-executive director of 

the Company with effect from 1 May 2015 as his other engagements require more of his time and attention. He 

confirmed that he had no disagreement with the Board and that there were no matters that needed to be brought to 

the attention of the holders of securities of the Company in relation to his resignation. 

On 24 March 2016, the board of directors resolved to accept the retirement of Mr. Hung Hak Hip, Peter, from the 

position as the Chairman of the board with effect from 25 March 2016 and honour him as the Honorary Chairman  

of the Company following his retirement. The board also resolved on 24 March 2016 to appoint Mr. Seto Gin Chung, 

John as the new Chairman of the board with effect from 25 March 2016.
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DIRECTORS (Continued)
Save for Mr. Siu’s resignation in 2015 and Mr. Hung Hak Hip, Peter’s retirement with effect from 25 March 2016, 

there was no other director of the Company tendering resignation, refusing to stand for re-election to office, nor 

the Company has received any notice in writing from any director specifying that the resignation or refusal is due to 

reasons relating to the affairs of the Company.

Pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities (the “Listing Rules”) on the Stock Exchange, 

the Company noted that the newly appointed independent non-executive director, Mr. Wan Sai Cheong, Joseph has 

submitted his independence confirmation to the Stock Exchange upon his appointment on 2 February 2016 and the 

Company has also received a written annual confirmation of independence from each of all other independent non-

executive directors confirming that they had met the independence guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 during the year 

ended 31 December 2015, and as such the Company considered them to be independent.

CHANGE OF INFORMATION ON DIRECTORS
Pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules, the changes and updated information regarding the Directors of 

the Company since the Company’s last published interim report and up to the date of this annual report are set out 

below:

(a)	 Mr. Cheung Wing Yui, Edward, BBS, an independent non-executive director of the Company, resigned as 

a non-executive director of SRE Group Limited, a Hong Kong listed company, with effect from 4 December 

2015;

(b)	 Hon. Shek Lai Him, Abraham, GBS, JP, an independent non-executive director of the Company, ceased 

as an independent non-executive director of Dorsett Hospitality International Limited (a Hong Kong listed 

company until withdrawn from listing on 16 October 2015) with effect from 11 March 2016; and the company 

name of “Jinheng Automotive Safety Technology Holdings Limited”, a listed company in Hong Kong of which 

Hon. Shek Lai Him, Abraham was appointed as an independent non-executive director with effect from 25 

June 2015, was changed to “TUS International Limited” with effect from 28 January 2016; and

(c)	 Mr. Wan Sai Cheong, Joseph was appointed as an independent non-executive director of the Company and 

a member of the audit committee of the Company with effect from 2 February 2016 with a director’s fee of 

HK$220,000 per annum subject to re-election at the forthcoming AGM of the Company.
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DIRECTORS’ BIOGRAPHIES

(a)	 Non-executive directors

Mr. Hung Hak Hip, Peter, aged 71, the non-executive Chairman, 

is a chartered accountant and worked in the Hong Kong securities 

industry before joining the Group in 1975. Mr. Hung is an uncle 

of Mr. Hung Ming Kei, Marvin, an executive director and the Chief 

Executive Officer of the Company. By virtue of the Securities 

and Futures Ordinance, Mr. Hung is a substantial shareholder 

of the Company as disclosed in the section under “Substantial 

Shareholders’ and Other Persons’ Interests and Short Positions in 

Shares and Underlying Shares”.

Mr. Hung retired from the position of the Chairman of the board 

with effect from 25 March 2016 and he has been honoured as the 

Honorary Chairman of the Company following his retirement.

Mr. Seto Gin Chung, John, aged 67, appointed as the Vice 

Chairman of the Board and a director of the Group on 29 August 

2014 and 25 April 2006 respectively, is a director of Pacific 

Eagle Asset Management Limited since January 2006. He is an 

independent non-executive director of China Everbright Limited 

and Kowloon Development Company Limited. He was the Chief 

Executive Officer of HSBC Broking Services (Asia) Limited from 1982 

to 2001. He was a non-executive director of Hong Kong Exchanges 

and Clearing Limited from 2000 to 2003, a council member of the 

Stock Exchange from 1994 to 2000 and was the first vice chairman 

of the Stock Exchange from 1997 to 2000. He had been a non-

executive director of Sateri Holdings Limited, which became a 

listed company on the Stock Exchange on 8 December 2010, for 

the period from 28 October 2010 until the conclusion of the annual 

general meeting on 21 May 2013. He holds a Master of Business 

Administration degree from New York University, USA and has over 

30 years of experience in the securities and futures industry.

Mr. Seto has been appointed as the new Chairman of the board with 

effect from 25 March 2016 following the retirement of Mr. Hung Hak 

Hip, Peter.
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DIRECTORS’ BIOGRAPHIES (Continued)
(a)	 Non-executive directors (Continued)

Dr. Hon. Wong Yu Hong, Philip, GBS, JD, PhD, aged 77, appointed 

as a director of the Group in 1989, is a prominent businessman 

and Life Honorary Chairman of The Chinese General Chamber 

of Commerce. Dr. Wong received the Gold Bauhinia Star Award 

from the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region (“HKSAR”) 

Government in 2003 and the Courvoisier Awards for Business 

Excellency from the then Chief Justice of Hong Kong, Sir Denys 

Roberts, in 1986. He is a non-executive director of Asia Financial 

Holdings Limited which is a Hong Kong listed company. He was 

also the non-executive chairman of Qin Jia Yuan Media Services 

Company Limited up to 21 March 2012.

Mr. Sze Tsai To, Robert, aged 75, was appointed as a director of 

the Group on 1 June 2000. Mr. Sze is a fellow of the Institute of 

Chartered Accountants in England and Wales and the Hong Kong 

Institute of Certified Public Accountants and was a partner in an 

international firm of accountants with which he practiced for over 

20 years. He is also a non-executive director of a number of Hong 

Kong listed companies.
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DIRECTORS’ BIOGRAPHIES (Continued)
(a)	 Non-executive directors (Continued)

Mr. Cheung Wing Yui, Edward, BBS, aged 66, appointed as a 

director of the Group in 1989, is a consultant of Woo, Kwan, Lee & 

Lo, solicitors. Mr. Cheung is also a qualified solicitor in England and 

Singapore and a member of CPA Australia. He is a non-executive 

director of a number of Hong Kong listed companies including Tai 

Sang Land Development Limited and Tianjin Development Holdings 

Limited. He is also a non-executive director and vice chairman of 

Sunevision Holdings Limited and SmarTone Telecommunications 

Holdings Limited, an independent non-executive director of Agile 

Property Holdings Limited. He was a non-executive director of SRE 

Group Limited, a Hong Kong listed company, until 3 December 

2015. Mr. Cheung was awarded the Bronze Bauhinia Star in 2013.
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DIRECTORS’ BIOGRAPHIES (Continued)
(a)	 Non-executive directors (Continued)

Hon. Shek Lai Him, Abraham, GBS, JP, aged 70, was appointed as 
a director of the Group on 1 January 2007. Mr. Shek graduated from 
the University of Sydney, Australia with a Bachelor of Arts degree. 
He has been a member of the Legislative Council of the HKSAR 
representing real estate and construction functional constituency 
since 2000. Currently, Mr. Shek is a member of the Court of The 
Hong Kong University of Science & Technology and a member of the 
Court and Council of The University of Hong Kong. He is a director 
of The Hong Kong Mortgage Corporation Limited. He had been the 
vice chairman of Independent Police Complaints Council and retired 
on 1 January 2015. Mr. Shek was appointed as a Justice of the 
Peace in 1995 and awarded the Silver Bauhinia Star in 2007. Mr. 
Shek also received the Gold Bauhinia Star Award from the HKSAR 
Government in July 2013. Mr. Shek was appointed as a non-
executive director of Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Authority 
with effect from 17 March 2015. He is an independent non-executive 
director of a number of Hong Kong listed companies including NWS 
Holdings Limited, Midas International Holdings Limited, Paliburg 
Holdings Limited, Lifestyle International Holdings Limited, Chuang’s 
Consortium International Limited, ITC Corporation Limited, Country 
Garden Holdings Company Limited, MTR Corporation Limited, SJM 
Holdings Limited, China Resources Cement Holdings Limited, Lai 
Fung Holdings Limited, Cosmopolitan International Holdings Limited 
and TUS International Limited (prior to 28 January 2016 known 
as Jinheng Automotive Safety Technology Holdings Limited). He 
was an independent non-executive director of Dorsett Hospitality 
International Limited (a Hong Kong listed company until withdrawn 
from listing on 16 October 2015) until 10 March 2016. Mr. Shek 
is the chairman and an independent non-executive director of 
Chuang’s China Investments Limited. He is also the vice chairman 
and an independent non-executive director of ITC Properties Group 
Limited. Mr. Shek was an independent non-executive director of 
Titan Petrochemicals Group Limited and Hsin Chong Construction 
Group Limited (companies listed on the Main Board of the Stock 
Exchange) until 26 February 2014 and 11 May 2014 respectively. 
Mr. Shek is also an independent non-executive director of Eagle 
Asset Management (CP) Limited, the manager of Champion Real 
Estate Investment Trust and an independent non-executive director 
of Regal Portfolio Management Limited, the manager of Regal Real 
Estate Investment Trust.
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DIRECTORS’ BIOGRAPHIES (Continued)

(a)	 Non-executive directors (Continued)

Mr. Wan Sai Cheong, Joseph, aged 62, was appointed as an 
independent non-executive director of the Company with effect 
from 2 February 2016. Mr. Wan is a Fellow member of the Institute 
of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales, the Chartered 
Institute of Arbitrators, the Institute of Directors, the Royal Society 
of Arts and the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. 
Mr. Wan is also a Council Member of the Hong Kong International 
Arbitration Centre. Formerly, Mr. Wan was a director of the London 
Court of International Arbitration and of the International Dispute 
Resolution Centre in the UK for the periods from February 2012 
to September 2014 and from June 2009 to September 2014, 
respectively. After qualifying as a Chartered Accountant in 1978, 
Mr. Wan worked for KPMG in Hong Kong from 1978 to 1987, 
spending a year at their London Office. In 1987, Mr. Wan joined 
Dickson Concepts International Limited, a company listed on the 
Hong Kong Stock Exchange and distributes luxury goods in South 
East Asia, as their Group Finance Director and was responsible for 
the acquisitions of S.T. Dupont, Paris in 1987 and Harvey Nichols, 
London in 1991. Mr. Wan was the Chief Executive of the Harvey 
Nichols Group in the United Kingdom from 1992 to 2014, which 
was listed on the London Stock Exchange from 1996 to 2003. Mr. 
Wan was appointed as a board member of the Supervisory Board 
of S.T. Dupont S.A. (a company listed on the Paris Bourse) in May 
1999 and he was elected the Chairman of the Supervisory Board 
in January 2008 until retirement in September 2014. Mr. Wan’s 
professional expertise is in the areas of international tax planning, 
transaction due diligence and forensic accounting. He also has 
gained expertise in business turnarounds, mergers and acquisitions, 
corporate finance, department store retailing, restaurant operations 
and the global luxury markets.

Ms. Lam Fung Ming, Tammy, aged 52, joined the Group in 1990 

and was appointed as an executive director of the Group on 1 

November 2004, and re-designated as a non-executive director on 

28 June 2013. Prior to the re-designation, Ms. Lam was the Chief 

Operating Officer of the Group responsible for the sales activities, 

manufacturing, quality assurance and product development of the 

Group’s edible oils business. Ms. Lam holds a Bachelor of Science 

degree in Food Science and Technology and a Higher Diploma in 

Chemical Technology from the Hong Kong Polytechnic University. 

She has over 20 years’ experience in the oil and food industry. 

Currently, she is a director and an employee of the edible oils group 

which is indirectly controlled by the controlling shareholders of the 

Company.
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DIRECTORS’ BIOGRAPHIES (Continued)

(b)	 Executive directors

Mr. Hung Ming Kei, Marvin, aged 45, is the Chief Executive Officer 

of the Group with overall responsibility for the business of the 

Group. He was appointed as an executive director and the Chief 

Executive Officer of the Group on 12 March 2012. Mr. Hung holds 

a Bachelor’s degree in Science majoring in Accounting from the 

University of Southern California in the United States of America in 

1992 and a Master’s degree in Business Administration from China 

Europe International Business School. Mr. Hung has over 20 years 

of experience in business management and quick service restaurant 

operations. Mr. Hung is a nephew of Mr. Hung Hak Hip, Peter. 

By virtue of the Securities and Futures Ordinance, Mr. Hung is a 

substantial shareholder of the Company as disclosed in the section 

under “Substantial Shareholders’ and Other Persons’ Interests and 

Short Positions in Shares and Underlying Shares”.

Mr. Wong Kwok Ying, aged 56, is the Company Secretary and the 

Group Comptroller of the Group and was appointed as a director of 

the Group on 10 January 2000. Mr. Wong is a fellow member of the 

Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. He has over 35 

years’ finance, accounting and audit experience. Prior to joining the 

Group in 1990, he worked with one of the international accounting 

firms in Hong Kong.



40 Annual Report 2015

Hop Hing Group Holdings Limited 

Report of the Directors

DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS
Details of the emoluments of the directors on a named basis are set out in note 8 to the financial statements.

DIRECTORS’ MATERIAL INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS AND 
CONTRACTS
No transactions, arrangements and contracts that was significant in relation to the Company’s business to which 

the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party and in which any director of the Company and the director’s 

connected party had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time 

during the year.

INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESS
None of the directors of the Company had interests in other business, which competes or is likely to compete, either 

directly or indirectly, with the Group’s business.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS
None of the directors proposed for re-election at the AGM is a party to any service contract with the Company 

which is not determinable by the Company within one year without payment other than statutory compensation.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS
No contracts concerning the management and administration of the whole or any substantial part of the business of 

the Group were entered into or in existence during the year ended 31 December 2015.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Share options granted to directors and selected eligible employees
The share option scheme of the Company was adopted for the purpose of incentivizing and rewarding our directors 

and eligible employees who contribute to the success of the operations of the Group. The details of the share 

option scheme of the Company and the details of the share options granted are set out in note 23 to the financial 

statements. 300,000,000 share options were granted during the year ended 31 December 2015. No share options 

were vested or exercised and no shares were issued during the year.

Award shares granted to eligible employees
The Share Award Scheme of the Company was adopted as a means to recognise the contribution of and to provide 

incentives for the eligible employees. The details of the Share Award Scheme of the Company and the details of the 

award shares granted are set out in note 24 to the financial statements. 64,143,400 award shares were granted 

and 64,143,400 shares were issued under the general mandate for satisfying the grant during the year ended 31 

December 2015. The award shares are subject to conditions and vesting schedules as determined by the Board in 

its sole discretion.
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION
Save for the directors’ and officers’ liability insurance coverage for the directors and officers of the Group, no other 

permitted indemnity provision for the benefit of any director or who had been a director of the Company, or of its 

subsidiaries, where applicable, is in force.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN 
SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES
As at 31 December 2015, the interests of the directors and chief executive in the shares and underlying shares of 

the Company or its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance 

(the “SFO”)), as recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, 

or as otherwise notified to the Company and The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) 

pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers as set out in Appendix 10 to 

the Listing Rules (the “Model Code”), were as follows:

Interests in ordinary shares of the Company

Number of shares held, capacity and nature of interest

Name of director

Directly and 
beneficially 

owned

Through 
spouse or 

minor 
children

Through 
controlled 

corporation

Founder of a 
discretionary 

Trust
Beneficiary 

of a trust Total

Percentage of 
the Company’s 

issued share 
capital

Hung Hak Hip, Peter – 2,011,168 258,849,463 3,579,187,103 – 3,840,047,734 38.132%
notes(i) to (ii) note(iii)

Seto Gin Chung, John 500,847 – – – – 500,847 0.005%
Hung Ming Kei, Marvin 104,163 – 3,412,399,373 – 84,082,815 3,496,586,351 34.721%

note(iv) note(v)
Wong Yu Hong, Philip 2,454,678 – – – – 2,454,678 0.024%
Sze Tsai To, Robert 2,454,678 – – – – 2,454,678 0.024%
Cheung Wing Yui, Edward 3,027,798 – – – – 3,027,798 0.030%
Shek Lai Him, Abraham – – – – – – –
Lam Fung Ming, Tammy – – – – – – –
Wong Kwok Ying – – – – – – –
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN 
SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES (Continued)

Interests in ordinary shares of the Company (Continued)
Notes:

(i)	 84,082,815 shares were beneficially owned by a discretionary trust, the trustee is beneficially owned by Mr. Hung Hak Hip, 
Peter. The discretionary trust held 84,082,815 shares in the Company.

(ii)	 174,766,648 shares held by Mr. Hung Hak Hip, Peter through controlled corporations.

(iii)	 3,579,187,103 shares were beneficially owned by a discretionary trust, of which Mr. Hung Hak Hip, Peter is the founder. 
Out of the 3,579,187,103 shares, Mr. Hung Ming Kei, Marvin was also deemed to be interested in 199,642,838 shares by 
virtue of indirectly controlling more than one-third of the voting power at general meetings of the registered holder of such 
shares. Such shares were duplicated between Mr. Hung Hak Hip, Peter and Mr. Hung Ming Kei, Marvin.

(iv)	 3,412,399,373 shares were beneficially owned by a discretionary trust, the trustee of which is beneficially owned by Mr. 
Hung Ming Kei, Marvin. Out of the 3,412,399,373 shares, Mr. Hung Hak Hip, Peter was also deemed to be interested in 
199,642,838 shares by virtue of indirectly controlling more than one-third of the voting power at general meetings of the 
registered holder of such shares. Such shares were duplicated between Mr. Hung Hak Hip, Peter and Mr. Hung Ming Kei, 
Marvin.

(v)	 84,082,815 shares were beneficially owned by a discretionary trust whose discretionary beneficiaries included a company 
owned by Mr. Hung Ming Kei, Marvin. Mr. Hung Hak Hip, Peter was also deemed to be interested in 84,082,815 shares 
by virtue of being one of the beneficiaries of such discretionary trust and also the beneficial owner of the trustee of such 
discretionary trust (a discretionary trust mentioned in note (i) above) for the purpose of Part XV of the SFO. Such shares 
represented the same interests and were therefore duplicated between Mr. Hung Hak Hip, Peter and Mr. Hung Ming Kei, 
Marvin.

Save as disclosed above and the share options granted to the directors as disclosed in note 23 to the financial 
statements, as at 31 December 2015, none of the directors had registered an interest or short position in the 
shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of 
Part XV of the SFO) that was required to be recorded pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified 
to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND OTHER PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND 
SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES
As at 31 December 2015, the interests of substantial shareholders/other persons in the shares and underlying 

shares of the Company, as notified to the Company and recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company 

pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO, were as follows:

Interests in Ordinary Shares of the Company

Percentage of 

Name of shareholder Notes

Number of 

ordinary 

shares held

the Company’s 

issued share 

capital

True Force Ventures Limited (i) 1,408,783,784 13.99%

Earn Field International Limited (ii) 1,408,783,784 13.99%

H H Hung (2008) Limited (iii) 3,579,187,103 35.54%

Hung Hak Hip, Peter (iv) 3,840,047,734 38.13%

Hung Diana Wan Ling (v) 3,840,047,734 38.13%

Winner Planet Limited (vi) 1,625,526,805 16.14%

Creative Mount Limited (vii) 1,587,229,730 15.76%

North China Fast Food (2008) Limited (viii) 3,412,399,373 33.89%

Ample Great Ventures Limited (ix) 3,412,399,373 33.89%

Hung Ming Kei, Marvin (x) 3,496,586,351 34.72%

Arisaig Asia Consumer Fund Limited (xi) 981,288,000 9.74%

Arisaig Partners (Mauritius) Limited (xii) 981,288,000 9.74%

Cooper Lindsay William Ernest (xiii) 981,288,000 9.74%

Notes:

(i)	 the registered holder of the shares disclosed above.

(ii)	 the registered holder of the shares disclosed above.

(iii)	 H H Hung (2008) Limited is the registered holder of 166,787,730 shares. In addition, H H Hung (2008) Limited directly 
controls more than one-third of the voting power at general meetings of Predominance Limited. Predominance Limited 
is deemed to be interested in the shares mentioned in notes (i)-(ii) above, and 594,831,805 shares held by certain 
shareholders of the Company.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND OTHER PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND 
SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES (Continued)

Interests in Ordinary Shares of the Company (Continued)
Notes: (Continued)

(iv)	 As disclosed in the section under “Directors’ and Chief Executive’s Interests and Short Positions in Shares and Underlying 
Shares”, by virtue of the SFO, Mr. Hung Hak Hip, Peter is deemed to be interested in:

(a)	 3,579,187,103 shares held through H H Hung (2008) Limited mentioned in note (iii) above;

(b)	 84,082,815 shares held through Ever Intellect Limited;

(c)	 174,766,648 shares held through controlled corporations; and

(d)	 2,011,168 shares held through Mr. Hung Hak Hip, Peter’s spouse.

(v)	 Mrs. Hung Diana Wan Ling is deemed to be interested in 2,011,168 shares held through a controlled corporation. Mrs. 
Hung Diana Wan Ling is the wife of Mr. Hung Hak Hip, Peter and is deemed to be interested in the shares mentioned in (a) 
to (c) of note (iv) above.

(vi)	 the registered holder of the shares disclosed above.

(vii)	 the registered holder of the shares disclosed above.

(viii)	 North China Fast Food (2008) Limited indirectly controls more than one-third of the voting power at general meetings of 
certain registered shareholders including Winner Planet Limited, Creative Mount Limited and Predominance Fortune Limited. 
The company is deemed to be interested in the shares mentioned in notes (vi) and (vii) above and 199,642,838 shares held 
by Predominance Fortune Limited.

(ix)	 Ample Great Ventures Limited is the sole shareholder of North China Fast Food (2008) Limited which is deemed to be 
interested in shares mentioned in note (viii) above.

(x)	 Mr. Hung Ming Kei Marvin holds the entire issued share capital of Ample Great Ventures Limited and is deemed to be 
interested in the shares mentioned in note (viii) above. He also directly and beneficially owns 104,163 shares. In addition, 
Mr. Hung Ming Kei, Marvin is deemed to be interested in 84,082,815 shares beneficially owned by a discretionary trust 
whose discretionary beneficiaries included a company owned by him.

(xi)	 the registered holder of the shares disclosed above.

(xii)	 Arisaig Partners (Mauritius) Limited is the investment manager of Arisaig Asia Consumer Fund Limited and is deemed to be 
interested in the shares mentioned in note (xi) above.

(xiii)	 Mr. Cooper Lindsay William Ernest indirectly holds one-third of the voting power at general meetings of Arisaig Partners 
(Mauritius) Limited and is deemed to be interested in the shares mentioned in note (xi) above.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2015, the Company had not been notified of any persons other than 

the directors of the Company whose interests and share options are set out in the sections “Directors’ and Chief 

Executive’s Interests and Short Positions in Shares and Underlying Shares” in note 23 to the financial statements 

respectively, who had interests or short positions in the shares or underlying shares of the Company, which are 

required to be recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS AND RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
Save for connected transactions which are exempted from the reporting, annual review, announcement and 

independent shareholders’ approval requirements under the Listing Rules, during the year, there were no other 

transactions which, in the opinion of the directors, constituted connected transactions or continuing connected 

transactions that were subject to the reporting requirements under the Listing Rules.

Details of related party transactions undertaken during the year have been reported under note 29 to the financial 

statements. None of these related party transactions constitutes a discloseable connected transaction as defined 

under the Listing Rules.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS
In the year under review, sales attributable to the Group’s five largest customers accounted for less than 30% of the 

total sales for the year. The percentage of purchases attributable to the largest supplier and the five largest suppliers 

were 19.4% and 34.9% respectively.

To the best knowledge of the directors, neither the directors, their associates, nor any shareholders who own more 

than 5% of the Company’s issued share capital, had any beneficial interest in the Group’s five largest customers and 

five largest suppliers during the year.

RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES
The Group operates defined contribution retirement benefits scheme, namely the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme 

(the “MPF Scheme”), for the employees of the Group’s subsidiaries in Hong Kong who are eligible to participate. 

Contributions are made based on a percentage of the employees’ salaries and charged to the income statement as 

they become payable in accordance with the rules of the scheme.

The assets of the scheme are held separately from those of the Group in independently administered funds. In 

accordance with the rules of the MPF Scheme, the employer contributions vest fully with the employees when 

contributed into the MPF Scheme.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries which operate in Mainland China are required to participate in a central 

pension scheme operated by the local government. These subsidiaries are required to contribute a specified 

percentage of its payroll costs to the central pension scheme.

For the year ended 31 December 2015, the total scheme contributions made by the Group amounted to 

approximately HK$91,418,000 and no forfeited contributions were applied to reduce employer’s contributions.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS
There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s amended and restated articles of association or 

the laws of the Cayman Islands, which would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro rata basis to existing 

shareholders.
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SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT
Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and within the knowledge of the directors, at least 

25% of the Company’s total issued share capital was held by the public as at the date of this report.

SUBSEQUENT EVENT
Save for the recommended final dividend payable for the year ended 31 December 2015 which is subject to the 

approval by shareholders of the Company at the forthcoming AGM, there were no significant events after the 

reporting period of the Group.

AUDITORS
Ernst & Young retire and a resolution for their reappointment as auditors of the Company will be proposed at the 

forthcoming annual general meeting.

On behalf of the Board

HUNG HAK HIP, PETER

Chairman

Hong Kong

24 March 2016
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To the shareholders of Hop Hing Group Holdings Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Hop Hing Group Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its 
subsidiaries set out on pages 49 to 102, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 
December 2015, and the consolidated income statement, the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, the 
consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, 
and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

Directors’ responsibility for the consolidated financial 
statements
The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of consolidated financial statements that give a 
true and fair view in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by the Hong Kong Institute 
of Certified Public Accountants and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for 
such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial 
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditors’ responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audit. Our report 
is made solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept 
liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute 
of Certified Public Accountants. Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and 
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free from 
material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the 
consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditors’ judgement, including the 
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or 
error. In making those risk assessments, the auditors consider internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation 
of consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in order to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the 
reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the 
consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit 
opinion.
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To the shareholders of Hop Hing Group Holdings Limited

(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

Opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of the 

Company and its subsidiaries as at 31 December 2015, and of their financial performance and cash flows for the 

year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards and have been properly prepared in 

compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Ernst & Young

Certified Public Accountants

22/F CITIC Tower

1 Tim Mei Avenue

Central

Hong Kong

24 March 2016
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Consolidated Income Statement
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2015 2014

Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

TURNOVER 5 2,050,053 2,157,873

Direct cost of stocks sold (758,055) (817,752)

Other income and gains, net 5 4,282 5,702

Selling and distribution expenses (989,607) (1,080,995)

General and administrative expenses (212,574) (216,544)

PROFIT FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES 6 94,099 48,284

Finance costs 7 (1,507) (1,388)

PROFIT BEFORE TAX 92,592 46,896

Income tax expense 10 (26,804) (11,531)

PROFIT FOR THE YEAR ATTRIBUTABLE TO 

  EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE COMPANY 65,788 35,365

EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO

  EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE COMPANY 12

Basic HK0.66 cent HK0.35 cent

Diluted HK0.66 cent HK0.35 cent
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
Year ended 31 December 2015

2015 2014

HK$’000 HK$’000

PROFIT FOR THE YEAR 65,788 35,365

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE EXPENSES

Other comprehensive expenses to be reclassified to 

  income statement in subsequent periods:

  Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations (16,059) (7,489)

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE EXPENSES FOR THE YEAR (16,059) (7,489)

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR 

  ATTRIBUTABLE TO EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE COMPANY 49,729 27,876
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
31 December 2015

2015 2014

Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

NON-CURRENT ASSETS

Property, plant and equipment 13 212,409 250,870

Deferred tax assets 18 26,789 21,263

Prepayments and rental deposits 19 45,945 44,264

Total non-current assets 285,143 316,397

CURRENT ASSETS

Stocks 14 126,133 121,106

Accounts receivable 15 6,947 6,335

Prepayments, deposits and other receivables 19 53,702 69,498

Tax recoverable 5,808 6,493

Cash and cash equivalents 20 355,513 336,516

Total current assets 548,103 539,948

CURRENT LIABILITIES

Accounts payable 16 101,479 136,753

Other payables and accrued charges 21 261,145 256,072

Interest-bearing bank loans 17 – 30,000

Tax payable 6,255 –

Total current liabilities 368,879 422,825

NET CURRENT ASSETS 179,224 117,123

TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES 464,367 433,520

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES

Deferred tax liabilities 18 16,433 12,995

NET ASSETS 447,934 420,525

EQUITY

Equity attributable to equity holders of the Company

Issued share capital 22 1,007,043 1,000,629

Reserves 25 (559,109) (580,104)

TOTAL EQUITY 447,934 420,525

HUNG HAK HIP, PETER HUNG MING KEI, MARVIN

CHAIRMAN CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
Year ended 31 December 2015

Attributable to equity holders of the Company
 

Issued

share

capital

Share

premium

account*

Shares

held under

share award

scheme*

Merger

reserve*#

Share-based

payment

reserve*

Exchange

fluctuation

reserve*

Statutory

reserve*##

Capital

and other

reserves*###

Retained

profits*

Total

equity

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

(note 22)

At 1 January 2015 1,000,629 4,019,675 – (4,857,319) 5,155 17,043 16,439 69,377 149,526 420,525

Profit for the year – – – – – – – – 65,788 65,788

Other comprehensive expenses

  for the year:

  Exchange differences on

    translation of foreign operations – – – – – (16,059) – – – (16,059)

Total comprehensive income/

  (expenses) for the year – – – – – (16,059) – – 65,788 49,729

Issue of shares for share

  award scheme (note 22) 6,414 1,732 (8,146) – – – – – – –

Shares purchased under share

  award scheme (note 22) – – (328) – – – – – – (328)

Equity-settled share-based payment – – – – 3,184 – – – – 3,184

Final dividend for 2014 (note 11) – (25,176) – – – – – – – (25,176)

At 31 December 2015 1,007,043 3,996,231 (8,474) (4,857,319) 8,339 984 16,439 69,377 215,314 447,934
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity (Continued)
Year ended 31 December 2015

Attributable to equity holders of the Company

Issued

share

capital

Share

premium

account*

Merger

reserve*#

Share-based

payment

reserve*

Exchange

fluctuation

reserve*

Statutory

reserve*##

Capital

and other

reserves*###

Retained

profits*

Total

equity

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

At 1 January 2014 1,000,629 4,044,691 (4,857,319) 5,461 24,532 16,439 69,377 113,855 417,665

Profit for the year – – – – – – – 35,365 35,365

Other comprehensive expenses 

  for the year:

  Exchange differences on

    translation of foreign 

    operations – – – – (7,489) – – – (7,489)

Total comprehensive income/

  (expenses) for the year – – – – (7,489) – – 35,365 27,876

Transfer of share option reserve

  upon lapse of share options – – – (306) – – – 306 –

Final dividend for 2013 (note 11) – (25,016) – – – – – – (25,016)

At 31 December 2014 1,000,629 4,019,675 (4,857,319) 5,155 17,043 16,439 69,377 149,526 420,525

*	 These reserve accounts comprise the reserves in debit balance of HK$559,109,000 (2014: HK$580,104,000) in the 
consolidated statement of financial position.

#	 Merger reserve represents the excess of investment cost in a subsidiary, Hop Hing Fast Food Group Holdings Limited 
(“Hop Hing Fast Food”), of HK$4,919,843,000 (being the total consideration of HK$4,964,232,000 reduced by the loans of 
HK$44,389,000 owed by Hop Hing Fast Food to Queen Board Limited and its associates) over the share capital and share 
premium of Hop Hing Fast Food of HK$363,000 and HK$62,161,000, respectively, arose from the acquisition in 2012.

##	 In accordance with the Company Law of the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”), the Company’s subsidiaries registered 
in the PRC are required to appropriate 10% of the annual statutory net profit after tax (after offsetting any losses of prior 
years) to the statutory reserve fund. When the balance of the statutory reserve fund reaches 50% of each entity’s registered 
capital, any further appropriation is optional. The statutory reserve fund can be utilised to offset losses of prior years or to 
increase the registered capital. However, such balance of the statutory reserve fund must be maintained at a minimum of 
50% of the registered capital after such usage.

###	 Capital and other reserves mainly represent the capital reserve arising from group reorganisations in prior years.
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2015 2014

Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Profit before tax 92,592 46,896

Adjustments for:

  Interest income 5 (6,504) (4,995)

  Finance costs 7 1,507 1,388

  Depreciation 6 109,359 137,191

  Impairment/(write-back of impairment) of 

    accounts receivable 6 (290) 4,341

  Impairment of items of property, plant and equipment 6 1,509 911

  Loss on disposal/write-off of items of property,

    plant and equipment, net 6 7,187 9,002

  Equity-settled share-based payment expenses 6 3,184 –

208,544 194,734

Increase in stocks (5,027) (9,576)

Increase in accounts receivable (137) (2,540)

Decrease/(increase) in prepayments, deposits 

  and other receivables 14,115 (1,151)

Increase/(decrease) in accounts payable (35,274) 5,239

Increase in other payables and accrued charges 5,073 13,337

Cash generated from operations 187,294 200,043

Interest received 6,504 4,995

Hong Kong profits tax paid (333) (2,019)

Overseas tax paid (22,610) (10,452)

Net cash flows from operating activities 170,855 192,567

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Purchases of items of property, plant and equipment (90,317) (104,045)

Increase in time deposits with original maturity of 

  more than three months when acquired (101,721) (29,673)

Net cash flows used in investing activities (192,038) (133,718)

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Interest paid (1,507) (1,388)

Dividends paid (25,176) (25,016)

Shares purchased under share award scheme (328) –

Decrease in pledged bank deposits – 44,872

Net drawing/(repayment) of bank and other loans (30,000) 3,077

Net cash flows from/(used in) financing activities (57,011) 21,545
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows (Continued)
Year ended 31 December 2015

2015 2014

Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN CASH AND 

  CASH EQUIVALENTS (78,194) 80,394

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 291,458 210,917

Effect of foreign exchange rates changes, net (4,530) 147

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF YEAR 208,734 291,458

ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF CASH AND 

  CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash and cash equivalents as stated 

  in the consolidated statement of financial position 355,513 336,516

Less: Time deposits with original maturity of 

        more than three months when acquired 20 (146,779) (45,058)

Cash and cash equivalents as stated in 

  the consolidated statement of cash flows 208,734 291,458
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Notes to Financial Statements
31 December 2015

1.	 CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

The Company is a limited liability company incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 1 August 2007. The 

registered office address of the Company is Clifton House, 75 Fort Street, P.O. Box 1350, Grand Cayman, 

KY1-1108, Cayman Islands. The principal place of business of the Company is located at Flats E & F, 2/F., 

Hop Hing Building, 9 Ping Tong Street East, Tong Yan San Tsuen, Yuen Long, New Territories, Hong Kong.

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. There was no significant change in the principal 

activities of the subsidiaries of the Company during the year, which mainly consisted of the operation of quick 

service restaurant (“QSR”) business under the brand names of Yoshinoya and Dairy Queen in Northern China.

Details of the principal subsidiaries are set out in note 32 to the financial statements.

2.1	 BASIS OF PREPARATION

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards 

(“HKFRSs”) (which include all Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards 

(“HKASs”) and Interpretations) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”), 

accounting principles generally accepted in Hong Kong and the disclosure requirements of Hong Kong 

Companies Ordinance. They have been prepared under the historical cost convention. These financial 

statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand except 

when otherwise indicated.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries 

(collectively referred to as the “Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2015. A subsidiary is an entity 

(including a structured entity), directly or indirectly, controlled by the Company. Control is achieved when the 

Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee and has the ability 

to affect those returns through its power over the investee (i.e., existing rights that give the Group the current 

ability to direct the relevant activities of the investee).

When the Company has, directly or indirectly, less than a majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, 

the Group considers all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether it has power over an investee, 

including:

(a)	 the contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of the investee;

(b)	 rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and

(c)	 the Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the same reporting period as the Company, 

using consistent accounting policies. The results of subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which the 

Group obtains control, and continue to be consolidated until the date that such control ceases.
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2.1	 BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Income statement and each component of other comprehensive income are attributed to the owners of the 

Company and to the non-controlling interests, even if this results in the non-controlling interests having a 

deficit balance. All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, incomes, expenses and cash flows relating to 

transactions between members of the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are 

changes to one or more of the three elements of control described above. A change in the ownership interest 

of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is accounted for as an equity transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises (i) the assets (including goodwill) and liabilities 

of the subsidiary, (ii) the carrying amount of any non-controlling interest and (iii) the cumulative translation 

differences recorded in equity; and recognises (i) the fair value of the consideration received, (ii) the fair value 

of any investment retained and (iii) any resulting surplus or deficit in the income statement. The Group’s share 

of components previously recognised in other comprehensive income is reclassified to the income statement 

or retained profits, as appropriate, on the same basis as would be required if the Group had directly disposed 

of the related assets or liabilities.

2.2	 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND DISCLOSURES

The Group has adopted the following revised standards for the first time for the current year’s financial 

statements.

Amendments to HKAS 19 Defined Benefit Plans: Employee Contributions

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2010-2012 Cycle

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2011-2013 Cycle

The adoption of the above revised standards has had no significant financial effect on these financial 

statements.

In addition, the Company has adopted the amendments to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on 

the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”) issued by The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock 

Exchange”) relating to the disclosure of financial information with reference to the Hong Kong Companies 

Ordinance (Cap. 622) during the current financial year. The main impact to the financial statements is on the 

presentation and disclosure of certain information in the financial statements.
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2.3	 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING 

STANDARDS

The Group has not applied the following new and revised HKFRSs, that have been issued but are not yet 

effective, in these financial statements.

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments2

Amendments to HKFRS 10

  and HKAS 28 (2011)

Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its

  Associate or Joint Venture4

Amendments to HKFRS 10, HKFRS 12 

  and HKAS 28 (2011)

Investment Entities: Applying the Consolidation Exception1

Amendments to HKFRS 11 Accounting for Acquisitions of Interests in Joint Operations1

HKFRS 14 Regulatory Deferral Accounts3

HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers2

Amendments to HKAS 1 Disclosure Initiative1

Amendments to HKAS 16 and HKAS 38 Clarification of Acceptable Methods of Depreciation and

  Amortisation1

Amendments to HKAS 16 and HKAS 41 Agriculture: Bearer Plants1

Amendments to HKAS 27 (2011) Equity Method in Separate Financial Statements1

Annual Improvements 2012-2014 Cycle Amendments to a number of HKFRSs1

1	 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2016
2	 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018
3	 Effective for an entity that first adopts HKFRSs for its annual financial statements beginning on or after 1 January 

2016 and therefore is not applicable to the Group
4	 No mandatory effective date yet determined but is available for adoption

The Group is in the process of making an assessment of the impact of these new and revised HKFRSs upon 

initial application.
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2.4	 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Business combinations and goodwill

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method. The consideration transferred is 

measured at the acquisition date fair value which is the sum of the acquisition date fair values of assets 

transferred by the Group, liabilities assumed by the Group to the former owners of the acquiree and the 

equity interests issued by the Group in exchange for control of the acquiree. For each business combination, 

the Group elects whether to measure the non-controlling interests in the acquiree that are present ownership 

interests and entitle their holders to a proportionate share of net assets in the events of liquidation either at 

fair value or at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. All other components of non-

controlling interests are measured at fair value. Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate 

classification and designation in accordance with the contractual terms, economic circumstances and 

pertinent conditions as at the acquisition date. This includes the separation of embedded derivatives in host 

contracts of the acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the previously held equity interest is remeasured at its 

acquisition date fair value and any resulting gain or loss is recognised in the income statement.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer is recognised at fair value at the acquisition 

date. Contingent consideration classified as an asset or liability is measured at fair value with changes in 

fair value recognised in the income statement. Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is not 

remeasured and subsequent settlement is accounted for within equity.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of the aggregate of the consideration transferred, 

the amount recognised for non-controlling interests and any fair value of the Group’s previously held equity 

interests in the acquiree over the identifiable net assets acquired and liabilities assumed. If the sum of this 

consideration and other items is lower than the fair value of the net assets acquired, the difference is, after 

reassessment, recognised in the income statement as a gain on bargain purchase.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is 

tested for impairment annually or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that the 

carrying value may be impaired. For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business 

combination is, from the acquisition date, allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units that are 

expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination, irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of 

the Group are assigned to those units.
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2.4	 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Business combinations and goodwill (Continued)

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the 

goodwill relates. Where the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit is less than the carrying amount, 

an impairment loss is recognised. An impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in a subsequent 

period.

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating unit and part of the operation within that unit is 

disposed of, the goodwill associated with the operation disposed of is included in the carrying amount of 

the operation when determining the gain or loss on disposal. Goodwill disposed of in these circumstances is 

measured based on the relative value of the operation disposed of and the portion of the cash-generating unit 

retained.

Fair value measurement

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly 

transaction between market participants at the measurement date. The fair value measurement is based on 

the presumption that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place either in the principal 

market for the asset or liability, or in the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market 

for the asset or liability. The principal or the most advantageous market must be accessible by the Group. 

The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using the assumptions that market participants would use 

when pricing the asset or liability, assuming that market participants act in their economic best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account a market participant’s ability to generate 

economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market participant 

that would use the asset in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for which sufficient data 

are available to measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and minimising the use 

of unobservable inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the financial statements are 

categorised within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level input that is 

significant to the fair value measurement as a whole:

Level 1 – based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities

Level 2 – based on valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the 

fair value measurement is observable, either directly or indirectly

Level 3 – based on valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the 

fair value measurement is unobservable
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2.4	 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Fair value measurement (Continued)

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial statements on a recurring basis, the Group 

determines whether transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by reassessing categorisation 

(based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of 

each reporting period.

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual impairment testing for an asset is required (other 

than stocks, deferred tax assets and financial assets), the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. An asset’s 

recoverable amount is the higher of the asset’s or cash-generating unit’s value in use and its fair value less 

costs of disposal, and is determined for an individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash inflows 

that are largely independent of those from other assets or groups of assets, in which case the recoverable 

amount is determined for the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. 

In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-

tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific 

to the asset. An impairment loss is charged to the income statement in the period in which it arises in those 

expense categories consistent with the function of the impaired asset.

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting period as to whether there is an indication that 

previously recognised impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased. If such an indication 

exists, the recoverable amount is estimated. A previously recognised impairment loss of an asset is reversed 

only if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount of that asset, but 

not to an amount higher than the carrying amount that would have been determined (net of any depreciation/

amortisation) had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years. A reversal of such an 

impairment loss is credited to the income statement in the period in which it arises.
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2.4	 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Related parties

A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(a)	 the party is a person or a close member of that person’s family and that person

(i)	 has control or joint control over the Group;

(ii)	 has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii)	 is a member of the key management personnel of the Group or of a parent of the Group;

or

(b)	 the party is an entity where any of the following conditions applies:

(i)	 the entity and the Group are members of the same group;

(ii)	 one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow 

subsidiary of the other entity);

(iii)	 the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the same third party;

(iv)	 one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other entity is an associate of the third 

entity;

(v)	 the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit of employees of either the Group or 

an entity related to the Group;

(vi)	 the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person identified in (a);

(vii)	 a person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence over the entity or is a member of the key 

management personnel of the entity; and

(viii)	 the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a part, provides key management personnel 

services to the Group or to the parent of the Group.
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2.4	 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any impairment 

losses. The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment comprises its purchase price and any directly 

attributable costs of bringing the asset to its working condition and location for its intended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and equipment have been put into operation, such as 

repairs and maintenance, is normally charged to the income statement in the period in which it is incurred. 

Where significant parts of property, plant and equipment are required to be replaced at intervals, the Group 

recognises such parts as individual assets with specific useful lives and depreciates them accordingly.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write off the cost of each item of property, plant and 

equipment to its residual value over its estimated useful life. The principal annual rates used for this purpose 

are as follows:

Motor vehicles and other equipment 20% to 33.33%

Furniture and fixtures 20% to 33.33%

Leasehold improvements 33.3% or over the shorter of the lease terms, if shorter

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, the cost of that item is 

allocated on a reasonable basis among the parts and each part is depreciated separately. Residual values, 

useful lives and the depreciation method are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at least at each financial 

year end.

An item of property, plant and equipment including any significant part initially recognised is derecognised 

upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss 

on disposal or retirement recognised in the income statement in the year the asset is derecognised is the 

difference between the net sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the relevant asset.
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2.4	 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Operating leases

Leases where substantially all the rewards and risks of ownership of assets remain with the lessor are 

accounted for as operating leases. Where the Group is the lessor, assets leased by the Group under 

operating leases are included in non-current assets, and rentals receivable under the operating leases are 

credited to the income statement on the straight-line basis over the lease terms. Where the Group is the 

lessee, rentals payable under operating leases net of any incentives received from the lessor are charged to 

the income statement on the straight-line basis over the lease terms.

Financial assets

Initial recognition and measurement
Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as loans and receivables. When financial assets are 

recognised initially, they are measured at fair value plus transaction costs that are attributable to the 

acquisition of the financial assets, except in the case of financial assets recorded at fair value through profit 

or loss.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on the trade date, that is, the date 

that the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or 

sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within the period generally established by regulation or 

convention in the marketplace.

Subsequent measurement
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not 

quoted in an active market. After initial measurement, such assets are subsequently measured at amortised 

cost using the effective interest rate method less any allowance for impairment. Amortised cost is calculated 

by taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition and includes fees or costs that are an integral 

part of the effective interest rate. The effective interest rate amortisation is included in the income statement. 

The loss arising from impairment is recognised in the income statement.
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2.4	 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) 

is primarily derecognised (i.e. removed from the Group’s consolidated statement of financial position) when:

•	 the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired; or

•	 the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset or has assumed an obligation 

to pay the received cash flows in full without material delay to a third party under a “pass-through” 

arrangement; and either (a) the Group has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the 

asset, or (b) the Group has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the 

asset, but has transferred control of the asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from an asset or has entered into a pass-

through arrangement, it evaluates if and to what extent it has retained the risk and rewards of ownership of 

the asset. When it has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset 

nor transferred control of the asset, the Group continues to recognise the transferred asset to the extent 

of the Group’s continuing involvement. In that case, the Group also recognises an associated liability. The 

transferred asset and the associated liability are measured on a basis that reflects the rights and obligations 

that the Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the transferred asset is measured at the lower 

of the original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum amount of consideration that the Group could 

be required to repay.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group assesses at the end of each reporting period whether there is objective evidence that a financial 

asset or a group of financial assets is impaired. An impairment exists if one or more events that occurred after 

the initial recognition of the asset have an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset or 

the group of financial assets that can be reliably estimated. Evidence of impairment may include indications 

that a debtor or a group of debtors is experiencing significant financial difficulty, default or delinquency in 

interest or principal payments, the probability that they will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation 

and observable data indicating that there is a measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flows, such 

as changes in arrears or economic conditions that correlate with defaults.
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2.4	 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Financial assets carried at amortised cost
For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the Group first assesses whether impairment exists individually 
for financial assets that are individually significant, or collectively for financial assets that are not individually 
significant. If the Group determines that no objective evidence of impairment exists for an individually 
assessed financial asset, whether significant or not, it includes the asset in a group of financial assets with 
similar credit risk characteristics and collectively assesses them for impairment. Assets that are individually 
assessed for impairment and for which an impairment loss is, or continues to be, recognised are not included 
in a collective assessment of impairment.

The amount of any impairment loss identified is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying 
amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows (excluding future credit losses that have not 
been incurred). The present value of the estimated future cash flows is discounted at the financial asset’s 
original effective interest rate (i.e., the effective interest rate computed at initial recognition).

The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use of an allowance account and the loss is 
recognised in the income statement. Interest income continues to be accrued on the reduced carrying 
amount using the rate of interest used to discount the future cash flows for the purpose of measuring the 
impairment loss. Loans and receivables together with any associated allowance are written off when there 
is no realistic prospect of future recovery and all collateral has been realised or has been transferred to the 
Group.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the estimated impairment loss increases or decreases because 
of an event occurring after the impairment was recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss is 
increased or reduced by adjusting the allowance account. If a write-off is later recovered, the recovery is 
credited to the income statement.

Financial liabilities

Initial recognition and measurement
Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as loans and borrowings.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and, in the case of loans and borrowings, net of 
directly attributable transaction costs.

The Group’s financial liabilities include accounts payable, other payables, accrued charges and interest-
bearing bank loans.

Subsequent measurement
After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost, 
using the effective interest rate method unless the effect of discounting would be immaterial, in which case 
they are stated at cost. Gains and losses are recognised in the income statement when the liabilities are 
derecognised as well as through the effective interest rate amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs 
that are an integral part of the effective interest rate. The effective interest rate amortisation is included in 
finance costs in the income statement.



67Annual Report 2015

Hop Hing Group Holdings Limited 

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
31 December 2015

2.4	 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Derecognition of financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged or cancelled, or 

expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially different terms, 

or the terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is treated 

as a derecognition of the original liability and a recognition of a new liability, and the difference between the 

respective carrying amounts is recognised in the income statement.

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount is reported in the statement of financial 

position if there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an 

intention to settle on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously.

Shares held under share award scheme

Own equity instruments which are reacquired by or issued to the trustee of the Company’s share award 

scheme and held by the Group (treasury shares) are recognised directly in equity at cost. No gain or loss is 

recognised in the income statement on the purchase, sale, issue or cancellation of the Group’s own equity 

instruments.

Stocks

Stocks are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is determined on the weighted average 

basis. Net realisable value is based on estimated selling prices less any estimated costs to be incurred to 

completion and disposal.

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax relating to items recognised outside the income 

statement is recognised outside the income statement, either in other comprehensive income or directly in 

equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount expected to be recovered from or paid to the 

taxation authorities, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the 

end of the reporting period, taking into consideration interpretations and practices prevailing in the countries 

in which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all temporary differences at the end of the reporting 

period between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting 

purposes.
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2.4	 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences, except:

•	 when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction 

that is not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting 

profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

•	 in respect of taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, when the 

timing of the reversal of the temporary differences can be controlled and it is probable that the 

temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences, the carryforward of unused tax 

credits and any unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that 

taxable profit will be available against which the deductible temporary differences, the carryforward of unused 

tax credits and unused tax losses can be utilised, except:

•	 when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible temporary differences arises from the initial 

recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time 

of the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

•	 in respect of deductible temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, deferred tax 

assets are only recognised to the extent that it is probable that the temporary differences will reverse 

in the foreseeable future and taxable profit will be available against which the temporary differences 

can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each reporting period and reduced 

to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of 

the deferred tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at the end of each 

reporting period and are recognised to the extent that it has become probable that sufficient taxable profit will 

be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the period when 

the asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or 

substantively enacted by the end of each reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if a legally enforceable right exists to set off current 

tax assets against current tax liabilities and the deferred taxes relate to the same taxable entity and the same 

taxation authority.
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2.4	 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value where there is reasonable assurance that the grant 

will be received and all attaching conditions will be complied with. When the grant relates to an expense 

item, it is recognised as income on a systematic basis over the periods that the cost which it is intended to 

compensate, are expensed.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised when it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Group and when the 

revenue can be measured reliably, on the following bases:

(i)	 from the sale of food and beverage products to customers; and

(ii)	 interest income, on an accrual basis using the effective interest rate method by applying the rate that 

discounts the estimated future cash receipts over the expected life of the financial instrument to the 

net carrying amount of the financial asset.

Employee benefits

Share-based payments
The Company operates a share option scheme and a share award scheme for the purpose of providing 

incentives and rewards to eligible participants who contribute to the success of the Group’s operations. 

Employees (including directors) of the Group receive remuneration in the form of share-based payments, 

whereby employees render services as consideration for equity instruments (“equity-settled transactions”).

The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees is measured by reference to the fair value at the date 

at which they are granted. The fair value is determined by an external valuer using an appropriate pricing 

model, further details of which are given in notes 23 and 24 to the financial statements.

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised in employee benefit expense, together with a 

corresponding increase in equity, over the period in which the performance and/or service conditions are 

fulfilled. The cumulative expense recognised for equity-settled transactions at the end of each reporting 

period until the vesting date reflects the extent to which the vesting period has expired and the Group’s best 

estimate of the number of equity instruments that will ultimately vest. The charge or credit to the income 

statement for a period represents the movement in the cumulative expense recognised as at the beginning 

and end of that period.
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Employee benefits (Continued)

Share-based payments (Continued)
Service and non-market performance conditions are not taken into account when determining the grant 

date fair value of awards, but the likelihood of the conditions being met is assessed as part of the Group’s 

best estimate of the number of equity instruments that will ultimately vest. Market performance conditions 

are reflected within the grant date fair value. Any other conditions attached to an award, but without an 

associated service requirement, are considered to be non-vesting conditions. Non-vesting conditions are 

reflected in the fair value of an award and lead to an immediate expensing of an award unless there are also 

service and/or performance conditions.

For awards that do not ultimately vest because non-market performance and/or service conditions have 

not been met, no expense is recognised. Where awards include a market or non-vesting condition, the 

transactions are treated as vesting irrespective of whether the market or non-vesting condition is satisfied, 

provided that all other performance and/or service conditions are satisfied.

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, as a minimum an expense is recognised as if the 

terms had not been modified, if the original terms of the award are met. In addition, an expense is recognised 

for any modification that increases the total fair value of the share-based payments, or is otherwise beneficial 

to the employee as measured at the date of modification.

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as if it had vested on the date of cancellation, and 

any expense not yet recognised for the award is recognised immediately. This includes any award where 

non-vesting conditions within the control of either the Group or the employee are not met. However, if a new 

award is substituted for the cancelled award, and is designated as a replacement award on the date that it 

is granted, the cancelled and new awards are treated as if they were a modification of the original award, as 

described in the previous paragraph.

The dilutive effect of outstanding options and share awards is reflected as additional share dilution in the 

computation of earnings per share.

Paid leave carried forward
The Group provides paid annual leave to its employees under their employment contracts on a calendar year 

basis. Under certain circumstances, such leave which remains untaken as at the end of the reporting period 

is permitted to be carried forward and utilised by the respective employees in the following year. An accrual 

is made at the end of the reporting period for the expected future cost of such paid leave earned during the 

year by the employees and carried forward.
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Employee benefits (Continued)

Retirement benefit schemes
The Group operates defined contribution retirement benefit scheme, namely, the Mandatory Provident Fund 

Scheme (the “MPF Scheme”), for those employees who are eligible to participate. Contributions are made 

based on a percentage of the employees’ salaries and are charged to the income statement as they become 

payable in accordance with the rules of the scheme. The assets of the scheme are held separately from those 

of the Group in independently administered funds. The employer contributions vest fully with the employees 

when contributed into the MPF Scheme.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries which operate in Mainland China are required to participate in 

a central pension scheme operated by the local municipal government. These subsidiaries are required to 

contribute a certain percentage of their payroll costs to the central pension scheme. The contributions are 

charged to the income statement as they become payable in accordance with the rules of the central pension 

scheme.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash 

on hand and demand deposits, and short-term highly liquid investments that are readily convertible into 

known amounts of cash, are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value, and have a short maturity of 

generally within three months when acquired, less bank overdrafts which are repayable on demand and form 

an integral part of the Group’s cash management.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of financial position, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash 

on hand and at banks, including term deposits, which are not restricted as to use.

Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal or constructive) has arisen as a result of a past 

event and it is probable that a future outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation, provided 

that a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount recognised for a provision is the present value at the 

end of the reporting period of the future expenditures expected to be required to settle the obligation. The 

increase in the discounted present value amount arising from the passage of time is included in finance costs 

in the income statement.
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Foreign currencies

These financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars, which is the Company’s functional currency. 

Each entity in the Group determines its own functional currency and items included in the financial statements 

of each entity are measured using that functional currency. Foreign currency transactions recorded by the 

entities in the Group are initially recorded using their respective functional currency rates prevailing at the 

dates of the transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated 

at the functional currency rates of exchange ruling at the end of the reporting period. Differences arising on 

settlement or translation of monetary items are recognised in the income statement.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using 

the exchange rates at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary items measured at fair value in 

a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the date when the fair value was measured. 

The gain or loss arising on translation of a non-monetary item measured at fair value is treated in line with 

the recognition of the gain or loss on change in fair value of the item (i.e., translation difference on the item 

whose fair value gain or loss is recognised in other comprehensive income or the income statement is also 

recognised in other comprehensive income or the income statement, respectively).

The functional currencies of certain overseas subsidiaries are currencies other than the Hong Kong dollar. As 

at the end of the reporting period, the assets and liabilities of these entities are translated into Hong Kong 

dollars at the exchange rates prevailing at the end of the reporting period and their income statements are 

translated into Hong Kong dollars at the weighted average exchange rates for the year.

The resulting exchange differences are recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in the 

exchange fluctuation reserve. On disposal of a foreign operation, the component of other comprehensive 

income relating to that particular foreign operation is recognised in the income statement.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, the cash flows of overseas subsidiaries are 

translated into Hong Kong dollars at the exchange rates ruling at the dates of the cash flows. Frequently 

recurring cash flows of overseas subsidiaries which arise throughout the year are translated into Hong Kong 

dollars at the weighted average exchange rates for the year.
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3.	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements requires management to make judgements, estimates 

and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities, and their 

accompanying disclosure, and the disclosure of contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these assumptions 

and estimates could result in outcomes that could require a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of 

the assets or liabilities affected in the future.

Judgements

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, management has made the following judgements, 

apart from those involving estimations, which have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in 

the financial statements:

Impairment of assets
In determining whether an asset is impaired or whether the event previously causing the impairment no longer 

exists, the Group has to exercise judgement in the area of asset impairment, particularly in assessing: (1) 

whether an event has occurred that may affect the asset value, or such an event affecting the asset value has 

not been in existence; (2) whether the carrying value of an asset can be supported by the net present value 

of future cash flows, which are estimated based upon the continued use of the asset; and (3) the appropriate 

key assumptions to be applied in preparing cash flow projections are discounted using an appropriate rate. 

Changing the assumptions selected by management to determine the level of impairment, including the 

discount rates or the growth rate assumptions in cash flow projections, could have a material effect on the 

net present value used in the impairment test.

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumption concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of 

the reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of 

assets and liabilities within the next financial year, are described below.

Useful lives and residual values of items of property, plant and equipment
In determining the useful lives and residual values of items of property, plant and equipment, the Group has 

to consider various factors, such as obsolescence arising from changes or improvements in the production 

and provision of services, or from a change in the market demand for the product or service output of the 

asset, expected usage of the asset, expected physical wear and tear, care and maintenance of the asset, 

and legal or similar limits on the use of the asset. The estimation of the useful life of the asset is based on the 

experience of the Group with similar assets that are used in a similar way. Additional depreciation is made if 

the estimated useful lives and/or residual values of items of property, plant and equipment are shorter than 

previous estimation. Useful lives and residual values are reviewed at the end of each reporting period based 

on changes in circumstances.
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3.	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES (Continued)

Estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Deferred tax assets
Deferred tax assets are recognised for deductible temporary differences and unused tax losses to the extent 

that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which the deductible temporary differences and 

unused tax losses can be utilised. Significant management judgement is required to determine the amount 

of deferred tax assets that can be recognised, based upon the likely timing and level of future taxable profits 

together with future tax planning strategies. Details of the deferred tax assets are contained in note 18 to the 

financial statements.

4.	 OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group’s primary operating segment is the QSR business. In addition, the QSR business’ revenue and 

non-current asset, other than deferred tax assets, are predominantly attributable to a single geographical 

region, which is the PRC. Therefore, no analysis by geographical region is presented.

5.	 TURNOVER AND OTHER INCOME AND GAINS, NET

Turnover represents the net invoiced value of goods sold during the year.

An analysis of turnover and other income and gains, net is as follows:

2015 2014

HK$’000 HK$’000

Turnover

Sales 2,050,053 2,157,873

Other income and gains, net

Interest income 6,504 4,995

Foreign exchange differences, net (7,268) (4,414)

Compensation 442 1,513

Government grants* 3,627 2,550

Others 977 1,058

4,282 5,702

*	 Government grants represent the subsidies received from the local government for the Group’s business activities 
carried out locally. There were no unfulfilled conditions during the year in which they were recognised.
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6.	 PROFIT FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

The Group’s profit from operating activities is arrived at after charging/(crediting):

2015 2014

HK$’000 HK$’000

Foreign exchange differences, net 7,268 4,414

Direct cost of stocks sold 758,055 817,752

Loss on disposal/write-off of items of property, 

  plant and equipment, net 7,187 9,002

Employee benefit expenses (including directors’ 

  emoluments in note 8):

  Wages and salaries 304,244 301,281

  Pension scheme contributions** 91,418 88,287

  Equity-settled share-based payment 3,184 –

398,846 389,568

Depreciation 109,359 137,191

Impairment of items of property, plant and equipment 1,509 911

Impairment/(write-back of impairment) of accounts receivable* (290) 4,341

Lease payments under operating leases:

  – Minimum lease payments 276,420 284,930

  – Contingent rents 37,517 38,767

Auditors’ remuneration 2,388 2,450

Notes:

*	 Impairment/(write-back of impairment) of accounts receivable is included in “General and administrative expenses” 
in the consolidated income statement.

**	 At 31 December 2015, the Group had no forfeited contributions available to reduce its future contributions to the 
pension schemes in future years (2014: Nil).

7.	 FINANCE COSTS

An analysis of finance costs is as follows:

2015 2014

HK$’000 HK$’000

Interest on bank loans 494 1,087

Bank financing charges and others 1,013 301

1,507 1,388
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8.	 DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S EMOLUMENTS

Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments for the year, disclosed pursuant to the Listing Rules, section 

383(1)(a), (b), (c) and (f) of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the Companies (Disclosure of 

Information about Benefits of Directors) Regulation, are as follows:

2015
 

Fees

Salaries,

allowances

and benefits

in kind

Discretionary/

performance

related

bonuses

Equity-settled

share-based

payment

Pension

scheme

contributions

Total

remuneration

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

(a)	 Independent non-executive directors

Seto Gin Chung, John 300 – – – – 300

Wong Yu Hong, Philip 220 – – – – 220

Sze Tsai To, Robert 275 – – – – 275

Cheung Wing Yui, Edward 275 – – – – 275

Shek Lai Him, Abraham 220 – – – – 220

Siu Wai Keung* 90 – – – – 90

1,380 – – – – 1,380

(b)	 Executive directors and  

  non-executive directors

Executive directors:

Hung Ming Kei, Marvin 2,000 3,075 – – – 5,075

Wong Kwok Ying – 1,816 – 413 145 2,374

2,000 4,891 – 413 145 7,449

Non-executive directors:

Hung Hak Hip, Peter 330 – – – – 330

Lam Fung Ming, Tammy 30 – – – – 30

360 – – – – 360

*	 Mr. Siu Wai Keung (“Mr. Siu”) resigned from the directorship of the Company on 1 May 2015. The emolument 
disclosed above represented Mr. Siu’s director’s fee up to 30 April 2015.
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8.	 DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

2014
 

Salaries, Discretionary/

allowances performance Equity-settled Pension

and benefits related share-based scheme Total

Fees in kind bonuses payment contributions remuneration

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

(a)	 Independent non-executive directors

Seto Gin Chung, John 247 – – – – 247

Wong Yu Hong, Philip 220 – – – – 220

Sze Tsai To, Robert 275 – – – – 275

Cheung Wing Yui, Edward 239 – – – – 239

Shek Lai Him, Abraham 220 – – – – 220

Siu Wai Keung 239 – – – – 239

1,440 – – – – 1,440

(b)	 Executive directors and  

  non-executive directors

Executive directors:

Hung Ming Kei, Marvin 2,000 3,139 – – – 5,139

Wong Kwok Ying – 1,730 – – 138 1,868

2,000 4,869 – – 138 7,007

Non-executive directors:

Hung Hak Hip, Peter 330 – – – – 330

Lam Fung Ming, Tammy 30 – – – – 30

360 – – – – 360

There was no arrangement under which a director or the chief executive waived or agreed to waive any 

remuneration during the year.
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Certain directors have been granted with share options in respect of their services to the Group, further 

details of which are set out in note 23 to the financial statements. The fair value of such options, which is 

being recognised in the income statement over the vesting period, was determined as at the date of grant 

and the amounts included in the income statement are included in the above directors’ and chief executive’s 

remuneration disclosures.

9.	 FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES

The aggregate emoluments of the five highest paid employees, including two (2014: two) directors whose 

emoluments are set out in note 8 above, for the year are as follows:

2015 2014

HK$’000 HK$’000

Salaries, allowances and other emoluments 10,015 12,763

Discretionary/performance related bonuses 1,532 972

Equity-settled share-based payment 1,583 –

Pension scheme contributions 505 248

13,635 13,983

The above emoluments are analysed as follows:

Number of employees

2015 2014

HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1 2

HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000 3 1

HK$3,000,001 to HK$3,500,000 – 1

HK$5,000,000 to HK$5,500,000 1 1

5 5

During the year, certain five highest paid employees who are neither directors nor chief executives were 

granted with share options in respect of their services to the Group, further details of which are included 

in the disclosures in note 23 to the financial statements. The fair values of such options, which have been 

recognised in the income statement over the vesting period, were determined as at the date of grant and the 

amounts included in the income statement for the current year have been included in the above disclosure of 

the five highest paid employees’ remuneration.
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10.	 INCOME TAX
Hong Kong profits tax has been provided at the rate of 16.5% (2014: 16.5%) on the estimated assessable 
profits arising in Hong Kong during the year. Taxes on profits assessable elsewhere have been calculated at 
the rates of tax prevailing in the jurisdictions in which the Group operates.

Pursuant to the Corporate Income Tax Law of the PRC being effective on 1 January 2008, the PRC corporate 
income tax rate for the Group’s subsidiaries operated in Mainland China during the year was 25% on their 
taxable profits. One of the subsidiaries engaged in agricultural business was entitled to exemption from the 
standard income tax rate in 2015 and 2014.

The major components of the income tax expense for the year are as follows:

2015 2014

HK$’000 HK$’000

Current – Hong Kong

  Charge for the year – 2,722

  Overprovision in prior years (564) –

(564) 2,722

Current – Elsewhere

  Charge for the year 30,639 17,777

  Underprovision/(overprovision) in prior years (192) 13

30,447 17,790

Deferred (note 18) (3,079) (8,981)

Total income tax charge for the year 26,804 11,531

A reconciliation of the tax expense applicable to profit before tax at the statutory rates, ranging from 16.5% 
to 25%, for the countries/jurisdictions in which the Company and the majority of its subsidiaries are domiciled 
to the tax expense at the effective tax rate is as follows:

2015 2014

HK$’000 HK$’000

Profit before tax 92,592 46,896

Tax at the applicable tax rate 15,278 7,738

Effect of different tax rates in other jurisdiction 6,483 1,983

Income not subject to tax (6,061) (7,549)

Expenses not deductible for tax 7,118 5,982

Underprovision/(overprovision) in respect of prior years (756) 13

Effect of withholding tax on the distributable profits 

  of the Group’s PRC subsidiaries 3,438 1,534

Tax losses not recognised 1,304 1,830

Tax charge at the Group’s effective rate 26,804 11,531
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11.	 DIVIDENDS

2015 2014

HK$’000 HK$’000

Dividends paid during the year:

  Final dividend for 2014 – HK0.25 cent 

    (2013: HK0.25 cent) per ordinary share 25,176 25,016

Proposed final dividend:

  HK0.25 cent (2014: HK0.25 cent) per ordinary share 25,176 25,016

The proposed final dividend for the year is subject to the approval of the Company’s shareholders at the 

forthcoming annual general meeting. These financial statements do not reflect the final dividend payable.

12.	 EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE 

COMPANY

(a)	 Basic earnings per share

The calculation of basic earnings per share is based on the consolidated profit for the year attributable 

to equity holders of the Company of HK$65,788,000 (2014: HK$35,365,000), and the weighted 

average number of 10,006,270,304 (2014: 10,006,288,386) ordinary shares in issue during the year, 

as adjusted to reflect the number of shares of 66,903,400 held under the share award scheme of the 

Company.

(b)	 Diluted earnings per share

For the year ended 31 December 2015, the calculation of diluted earnings per share is based on the 

consolidated profit for the year attributable to equity holders of the Company of HK$65,788,000 and 

the weighted average number of 10,031,528,148 ordinary shares in issue after adjusting for the effect 

of all dilutive potential ordinary shares of 25,257,844 calculated as follows:

2015 2014

HK$’000 HK$’000

Consolidated profit attributable to equity holders of 

  the Company 65,788 35,365
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12.	 EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE 

COMPANY (Continued)

(b)	 Diluted earnings per share (Continued)

Number of shares

2015 2014

Shares

Weighted average number of ordinary shares 

  in issue during the year used in the basic 

  earnings per share calculation 10,006,270,304 10,006,288,386

Effect of dilution – weighted average number of 

  ordinary shares:

    Share award 25,257,844 –

    Share options* – –

10,031,528,148 10,006,288,386

*	 The outstanding share options of the Company have not been included in the computation of diluted 
earnings per share for the years ended 31 December 2015 and 2014 as the impact of these options had an 
anti-dilutive effect on the Company’s basic earnings per share.
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13.	 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Motor
vehicles

and other
equipment

Furniture,
fixtures and

leasehold
improvements Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

31 December 2015

Cost:
  At 1 January 2015 390,457 442,821 833,278
  Additions 19,720 70,597 90,317
  Disposals/write-off (16,595) (13,919) (30,514)
  Exchange realignment (18,110) (21,872) (39,982)

  At 31 December 2015 375,472 477,627 853,099

Accumulated depreciation and impairment:
  At 1 January 2015 234,669 347,739 582,408
  Provided during the year 40,243 69,116 109,359
  Disposals/write-off (11,138) (12,189) (23,327)
  Provision for impairment – 1,509 1,509
  Exchange realignment (11,929) (17,330) (29,259)

  At 31 December 2015 251,845 388,845 640,690

Net book value:
  At 31 December 2015 123,627 88,782 212,409

31 December 2014

Cost:
  At 1 January 2014 363,001 423,449 786,450
  Additions 46,185 57,860 104,045
  Disposals/write-off (9,344) (27,677) (37,021)
  Exchange realignment (9,385) (10,811) (20,196)

  At 31 December 2014 390,457 442,821 833,278

Accumulated depreciation and impairment:
  At 1 January 2014 194,049 291,253 485,302
  Provided during the year 51,783 85,408 137,191
  Disposals/write-off (5,919) (22,100) (28,019)
  Provision for impairment – 911 911
  Exchange realignment (5,244) (7,733) (12,977)

  At 31 December 2014 234,669 347,739 582,408

Net book value:
  At 31 December 2014 155,788 95,082 250,870
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14.	 STOCKS

2015 2014

HK$’000 HK$’000

Raw materials 111,379 106,768

Consumables 14,754 14,338

126,133 121,106

15.	 ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE

2015 2014

HK$’000 HK$’000

Accounts receivable 10,775 10,638

Less: impairment (3,828) (4,303)

6,947 6,335

The Group’s QSR products are mainly sold on a cash basis. Accounts receivable of the Group’s QSR 

business were mainly due from shopping malls and internet platform service providers with credit terms within 

60 days. The overdue balances are reviewed regularly by senior management.

An aged analysis of the accounts receivable as at the end of the reporting period, based on the payment due 

date and net of provisions, is as follows:

2015 2014

HK$’000 HK$’000

Current (neither past due nor impaired) 6,806 1,795

Within 60 days past due 141 1,495

Over 60 days past due – 3,045

6,947 6,335
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15.	 ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE (Continued)

The movements in the provision for impairment of accounts receivable are as follows:

2015 2014

HK$’000 HK$’000

At 1 January 4,303 –

Impairment losses/(write-back of impairment) (290) 4,341

Exchange realignment (185) (38)

At 31 December 3,828 4,303

Included in the above impairment of accounts receivable were provisions made for individually impaired 

accounts receivable which may not be fully recoverable.

Receivables that were neither past due nor impaired relate to a number of diversified debtors for whom there 

was no recent history of default.

16.	 ACCOUNTS PAYABLE

An aged analysis of the accounts payable as at the end of the reporting period, based on the payment due 

date, is as follows:

2015 2014

HK$’000 HK$’000

Current and less than 60 days 97,797 130,173

Over 60 days 3,682 6,580

101,479 136,753

The accounts payable are non-interest-bearing and are normally settled within credit terms of 7 to 90 days.
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17.	 INTEREST-BEARING BANK LOANS

2015 2014
 

Effective Effective

interest rate interest rate

per annum per annum

% Maturity HK$’000 % Maturity HK$’000

Current (repayable within one year 

  or on demand)

Bank loan – unsecured – – – 2.2 2015 30,000

Note:

Floating interest rate bank loan of HK$30,000,000 as at 31 December 2014 was denominated in Hong Kong dollars. The 
bank loan was fully repaid during the year ended 31 December 2015.

18.	 DEFERRED TAX

The movements in deferred tax liabilities and assets during the year were as follows:

Deferred tax liabilities

Withholding 

taxes

HK$’000

At 1 January 2014 11,461

Charged to the income statement during the year (note 10) 1,534

At 31 December 2014 and 1 January 2015 12,995

Charged to the income statement during the year (note 10) 3,438

At 31 December 2015 16,433
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18.	 DEFERRED TAX (Continued)

Deferred tax assets

Tax credit

not utilised

Temporary

difference of

provisions,

accruals and

depreciation Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

At 1 January 2014 – 11,047 11,047

Credited to the income statement 

  during the year (note 10) 2,253 8,262 10,515

Exchange realignment – (299) (299)

At 31 December 2014 and 1 January 2015 2,253 19,010 21,263

Credited/(charged) to the income statement 

  during the year (note 10) (708) 7,225 6,517

Exchange realignment – (991) (991)

At 31 December 2015 1,545 25,244 26,789

Pursuant to the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law, a 10% withholding tax is levied on dividends declared to 

foreign investors from the foreign investment enterprises established in Mainland China. The requirement is 

effective from 1 January 2008 and applies to earnings after 31 December 2007. The Group is therefore liable 

to withholding taxes on dividends distributed by those subsidiaries established in Mainland China in respect 

of earnings generated from 1 January 2008. A lower withholding tax rate may be applied if there is a tax 

treaty between Mainland China and the jurisdiction of the foreign investors. For the Group, the applicable 

rates are 5% and 10%.

There are no income tax consequences attaching to the payment of dividends by the Company to its 

shareholders.

At 31 December 2015, the Group had tax losses of HK$19,109,000 (2014: HK$11,610,000) arising in Hong 

Kong that were available indefinitely for offsetting against future taxable profits of the relevant company. The 

Group also had tax losses of HK$6,257,000 (2014: HK$5,989,000) arising in Mainland China for offsetting 

against future taxable profits of the relevant company in one to five years. Deferred tax assets have not been 

recognised as it is not considered probable that taxable profits will be available.
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19.	 PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

2015 2014

HK$’000 HK$’000

Prepayments 37,429 52,034

Deposits 50,974 50,623

Other receivables 11,244 11,105

99,647 113,762

Current portion included in prepayments, 

  deposits and other receivables (53,702) (69,498)

Non-current portion: prepayments and rental deposits 45,945 44,264

The balances of deposits and other receivables were neither past due nor impaired. Financial assets included 

in the above balances relate to receivables for which there was no recent history of default.

20.	 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

2015 2014

HK$’000 HK$’000

Cash and bank balances 131,001 149,083

Non-pledged time deposits with original maturity of

  less than or equal to three months when acquired 77,733 142,375

Non-pledged time deposits with original maturity of

  more than three months when acquired 146,779 45,058

355,513 336,516

Cash and cash equivalents are denominated in:

2015 2014

HK$’000 HK$’000

HK$ 34,643 1,473

RMB 320,590 334,537

United States dollar 280 506

355,513 336,516
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20.	 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (Continued)

RMB is not freely convertible into other currencies. However, under Mainland China’s Foreign Exchange 

Control Regulations and Administration of Settlement, Sale and Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations, 

the Group is permitted to exchange RMB for other currencies through banks authorised to conduct foreign 

exchange businesses.

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank deposit rates. Short term time deposits are 

made for varying periods of between one day and twelve months depending on the cash requirements of the 

Group, and earn interest at the respective short term time deposit rates. The bank balances are deposited 

with creditworthy banks with no recent history of default.

21.	 OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUED CHARGES

2015 2014

HK$’000 HK$’000

Other payables 55,801 61,283

Accrued charges 205,344 194,789

Total 261,145 256,072

Other payables are non-interest-bearing and have average payment terms of one to three months.

22.	 SHARE CAPITAL

2015 2014

HK$’000 HK$’000

Authorised:

  14,800,000,000 (2014: 14,800,000,000)

    ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each 1,480,000 1,480,000

Issued and fully paid:

  10,070,431,786 (2014: 10,006,288,386)

    ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each 1,007,043 1,000,629
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22.	 SHARE CAPITAL (Continued)

A summary of the movements in the Company’s issued ordinary share capital and shares held under

share award scheme during the year is as follows:

Issued Share

Number of share premium

Notes shares in issue capital account Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Issued:

  At 1 January 2014 10,006,288,386 1,000,629 4,044,691 5,045,320

  Final 2013 dividend 11 – – (25,016) (25,016)

  At 31 December 2014 and 

    1 January 2015 10,006,288,386 1,000,629 4,019,675 5,020,304

  Issue of shares for

    share award scheme 24, (a) 64,143,400 6,414 1,732 8,146

  Final 2014 dividend 11 – – (25,176) (25,176)

  At 31 December 2015 10,070,431,786 1,007,043 3,996,231 5,003,274

Shares held

Number of under share

Notes shares in issue award scheme

HK$’000

At 1 January 2014, 31 December 2014 and 

  1 January 2015 – –

Issue of shares for share award scheme (a) 64,143,400 (8,146)

Shares purchased under share award scheme (b) 2,760,000 (328)

At 31 December 2015 66,903,400 (8,474)

Notes:

(a)	 During the year, 64,143,400 ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each were issued under the general mandate granted by 
the shareholders of the Company at the annual general meeting on 5 June 2014 (the “General Mandate”) for the 
Company’s share award scheme (the “Share Award Scheme”), based on the market value of the ordinary share 
of HK$0.127 each on 9 April 2015 as disclosed in the Company’s announcement dated 9 April 2015. The shares 
were issued to the trustee of the Share Award Scheme (the “Trustee”) and have been classified as treasury shares. 
Details were set out in note 24 to the financial statements.

(b)	 During the year, 2,760,000 ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each were purchased by the Trustee at prices ranging from 
HK$0.11 to HK$0.12 per share at a total consideration of approximately HK$328,000 (2014: Nil). The shares have 
been classified as treasury shares.
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22.	 SHARE CAPITAL (Continued)

Share options and share awards

Details of the Company’s share option scheme and the Share Award Scheme and the share options and 

share awards issued under the schemes are included in notes 23 and 24 to the financial statements, 

respectively.

23.	 SHARE OPTIONS

On 12 March 2008, the Company adopted a share option scheme (the “Share Option Scheme”) which 

became effective on 25 April 2008.

The main purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to attract, retain and reward the participants and to provide 

the participants with a performance incentive for continued and improved services with the Group. The 

participants of the Share Option Scheme include full-time employees and directors of the Group, and any 

persons approved by the board of directors or shareholders of the Company.

The life of the Share Option Scheme is 10 years commenced on 25 April 2008 and expiring on 24 April 2018. 

The mandate limit of the Share Option Scheme was approved and refreshed at the Company’s annual general 

meeting on 5 June 2014. The total number of shares available for issue under the Share Option Scheme was 

700,628,838 shares representing approximately 6.96% of the issued share capital of the Company as at the 

date of this annual report. 

The period within which the options may be exercised in accordance with the terms of the Share Option 

Scheme, shall: (i) be determined by the directors; (ii) commence on the expiration of 12 months (or such 

shorter period as may be determined by the directors) from the date of offer of options; and (iii) in any event 

not less than 3 years or more than 10 years from the date on which it commences.

The offer of a grant of options must be accepted within 21 days from the date of the offer at a consideration 

of HK$1 for the grant. The exercise price of an option to subscribe for shares granted pursuant to the 

Share Option Scheme shall not be less than the higher of: (i) the closing price of the shares as stated in the 

Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheet on the date on which an offer is made to a participant, which must 

be a business day; and (ii) the average closing price of the shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily 

quotation sheets for the 5 business days immediately preceding the date on which an offer is made.

Share options do not confer rights on the holders to dividends or to vote at shareholders’ meetings.
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23.	 SHARE OPTIONS (Continued)

The following share options under the Share Option Scheme of the Company were outstanding during the 

year and as at 31 December 2015:

Number of share options Price of the Company’s shares
  

Name or category
of participant

At
1 January

2015

Granted
during

the year

Lapsed
during

the year

Exercised
during

the year

At
31 December

2015 Date of grant Exercise period
Exercise

price
At date of

grant

Immediately
before the

grant 
date

(Note 3) (Note 4) (Note 5)
HK$ HK$ HK$

per share per share per share

Directors

Hung Hak Hip, Peter 4,928,000 – – – 4,928,000 27 April 2009 27 April 2010 up 0.35 0.35 N/A
to 26 April 2019

Seto Gin Chung, John 2,464,000 – – – 2,464,000 27 April 2009 27 April 2010 up 0.35 0.35 N/A
to 26 April 2019

Wong Yu Hong, Philip 2,464,000 – – – 2,464,000 27 April 2009 27 April 2010 up 0.35 0.35 N/A
to 26 April 2019

Sze Tsai To, Robert 2,464,000 – – – 2,464,000 27 April 2009 27 April 2010 up 0.35 0.35 N/A
to 26 April 2019

Cheung Wing Yui, Edward 2,464,000 – – – 2,464,000 27 April 2009 27 April 2010 up 0.35 0.35 N/A
to 26 April 2019

Shek Lai Him, Abraham 2,464,000 – – – 2,464,000 27 April 2009 27 April 2010 up 0.35 0.35 N/A
to 26 April 2019

Lam Fung Ming, Tammy 1,527,320 – – – 1,527,320 27 April 2009 Commencement 0.35 0.35 N/A
subject to Note 1

below and up
to 26 April 2019

(Note 2)

Wong Kwok Ying 4,928,000 – – – 4,928,000 27 April 2009 Commencement 0.35 0.35 N/A
subject to Note 1

below and up
to 26 April 2019

– 72,500,000 – – 72,500,000 9 April 2015 Commencement 0.127 0.127 0.13
subject to Note 7

below and up
to 8 April 2025

23,703,320 72,500,000 – – 96,203,320

Employees – 227,500,000 – – 227,500,000 9 April 2015 Commencement 0.127 0.127 0.13
subject to Note 7

below and up
to 8 April 2025

Ex-Director (Note 6) 2,464,000 – – – 2,464,000 27 April 2009 27 April 2010 up 0.35 0.35 N/A
to 26 April 2019

26,167,320 300,000,000 – – 326,167,320
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23.	 SHARE OPTIONS (Continued)
Notes:

(1)	 Having considered the participants’ achievement of performance targets, the Board had notified the participants 
the details of vesting of share options including the number of share options being vested and the date of 
commencement of the exercise period of the vested share options in accordance with the Share Option Scheme.

(2)	 Upon re-designation of Ms. Lam Fung Ming, Tammy as a non-executive director of the Company on 28 June 2013 
and pursuant to the Share Option Scheme, the Board endorsed that the exercise period of her vested share options 
remained effective up to 26 April 2019 and all unvested share options previously granted were lapsed on 28 June 
2013.

(3)	 The vesting periods of the share options run from the date of grant to the commencement of the exercise period.

(4)	 The exercise price of the share options is subject to adjustments.

(5)	 The price of the Company’s shares at the date of grant is the closing price of the shares as stated in the Stock 
Exchange’s daily quotation sheets on the date of grant.

(6)	 Mr. Lee Pak Wing resigned as a non-executive director of the Company on 20 May 2013. In accordance with the 
Share Option Scheme, share options granted to Mr. Lee Pak Wing remain effective until the end of the exercise 
period.

(7)	 The vesting of share options are subject to the participants’ achievement of performance targets to be set by the 
Board from time to time. The Board will notify the participants, after considering the participants’ performance 
and achievement of the pre-set targets, the details of the vesting of share options, including the number of 
share options to be vested and the date of commencement of the exercise period of the vested share options in 
accordance with the Share Option Scheme.

The fair value of the share options granted during the year was HK$12,164,000 which was estimated using 

a binomial option pricing model, taking into account the terms and conditions upon which the options were 

granted. The Company recognised share option expense of HK$1,583,000 during the year.

The fair value of options granted during the year was estimated using the following assumptions:

Dividend yield (%)	 1.97 – 2.08

Expected volatility (%)	 34.17 – 34.85

Historical volatility (%)	 34.17 – 34.85

Risk free interest rate (%)	 1.43 – 1.88

Exercise Multiple – Director	 2.80

Exercise Multiple – Employee	 2.20

The expected volatility reflects the assumption that the historical volatility is indicative of future trends, which 

may also not necessarily be the actual outcome.

As at 31 December 2015, the Company had 326,167,320 share options outstanding under the Share Option 

Scheme. The exercise in full of the outstanding share options would, under the present capital structure of 

the Company, result in the issue of 326,167,320 ordinary shares of the Company and additional share capital 

of HK$32,617,000 and share premium of HK$14,642,000 (before issue expenses).

Save for the grant of share options on 9 April 2015, no options were granted or exercised during the year.
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24.	 SHARE AWARD SCHEME

On 20 March 2015, the Board of the Company adopted the Share Award Scheme as a means to recognise 

the contribution of and provide incentives for the key management personnel, employed experts and core 

employees of the Group.

The Share Award Scheme is valid and effective for a period of 15 years from 20 March 2015 (the “Adoption 

Date”). The shares to be awarded under the Share Award Scheme (the “Award Shares”) will either be 

acquired by the trustee of the Share Award Scheme (the “Trustee”) from the open market or be new shares 

allotted and issued to the Trustee under general mandates granted by shareholders at the general meetings 

of the Company from time to time, both of which will be out from cash contributed by the Group. The Trustee 

will hold the Award Shares in trust for the awardees until such shares are vested with the awardees in 

accordance with the provisions of the Share Award Scheme.

The Trustee shall not exercise the voting rights in respect of any shares held under the Trust.

The Board shall not make any further award of shares which will result in the aggregate number of shares 

awarded by the Board throughout the duration of the Scheme to exceed 10% of the total number of issued 

shares of the Company from time to time and shall not award more than 1% of the total number of issued 

shares to any selected participant from time to time.

The vesting of shares awarded to the awardees is subject to conditions and vesting schedules as determined 

by the Board in its sole discretion.

On 9 April 2015, the Board resolved to grant share awards in respect of 64,143,400 shares (the “Subscription 

Awards”), to the certain selected participants (the “Selected Participants”), who are neither a director, chief 

executive or substantial shareholder of the Company, nor an associate (as defined under the Listing Rules) of 

any of them, by way of issue of 64,143,400 new shares on 26 May 2015 pursuant to the general mandate, 

granted by the shareholders of the Company at the annual general meeting held on 5 June 2014, under 

which the maximum number of shares that could be issued and allotted were 1,000,628,838 shares.

The 64,143,400 new shares issued and allotted by the Company to the Trustee pursuant to the Subscription 

Awards represent approximately 0.641% of the Company’s issued share capital before the allotment and 

approximately 0.637% of the Company’s enlarged issued share capital after the allotment. The Trustee will 

hold the shares in trust for the Selected Participants, until the shares become vested. The shares granted will 

vest in the respective proportions and on the respective dates specified in the letters of grant to be issued by 

the Company. Vested shares will be transferred to the Selected Participants at no cost save that transaction 

fees and expenses shall be payable by the Selected Participants as transferees. The Subscription Awards 

and the shares to be issued pursuant to the Subscription Awards are not subject to the approval of the 

shareholders of the Company.
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24.	 SHARE AWARD SCHEME (Continued)

Movements in the number of share awards and their average fair value per share were as follows:

Average

fair value

per share

Number of

shares awards

HK$

Outstanding at 1 January 2015 – –

Awarded 0.10 64,143,400

Forfeited 0.10 (19,119,821)

Outstanding at 31 December 2015 0.10 45,023,579

The fair value of the share awards granted is estimated by using the fair value (i.e. market value) of the 

Company’s share closing price at the date of grant less the cost for securing put options (“Put Options”). The 

Black-Scholes Option Pricing Model was employed in deriving the fair value of the Put Options which was 

estimated on the date of grant using the following assumptions:

Expected volatility (%)	 29.01

Risk fee interest rate (%)	 0.68

Lock-up period (years)	 3

25.	 RESERVES

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the movements therein for the current and prior years are presented 

in the consolidated statement of changes in equity.
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26.	 OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS

The Group leases certain of its shops, office premises and warehouses under operating lease arrangements. 

Leases for properties are negotiated for terms ranging from one to twenty years.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had total future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable 

operating leases falling due as follows:

2015 2014

HK$’000 HK$’000

Within one year 276,935 269,669

In the second to fifth years, inclusive 802,563 835,803

Beyond five years 311,192 432,448

1,390,690 1,537,920

In addition, the operating lease rentals for certain shops are based on the higher of a fixed rental and 

contingent rent based on sales of these shops pursuant to the terms and conditions as set out in the 

respective rental agreements. As the future sales of these shops could not be accurately determined, the 

relevant contingent rent has not been included above and only minimum lease commitments have been 

included in the above table.

27.	 CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had the following commitments for capital expenditure:

2015 2014

HK$’000 HK$’000

Contracted, but not provided for:

  Property, plant and equipment 1,886 1,863
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28.	 CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

During the years ended 31 December 2010, 2011, 2012 and 2013, the Hong Kong Inland Revenue 

Department (the “IRD”) issued protective assessments for the years of assessment 2003/2004, 2004/2005, 

2005/2006 and 2006/2007 to certain then joint ventures and subsidiaries of Hop Hing Oil Group Limited, 

which had lodged objections with the IRD against these assessments. Taking into account of the then 

development of the objections, the resources that would be required to pursue the case further and the 

advice of the tax consultants of the joint ventures and Hop Hing Oil Group Limited and its subsidiaries 

(collectively, the “Edible Oils Group”), a total provision of HK$11.7 million was made in the financial statements 

of the Edible Oils Group for the period from 1 January 2013 to 28 June 2013 for the probable settlement 

amounts of this tax case.

During the year ended 31 December 2014, the IRD agreed to the above compromise settlement amounts and 

issued revised assessments for the years of assessment 2003/2004, 2004/2005, 2005/2006 and 2006/2007 

to those joint ventures and subsidiaries of the Edible Oils Group accordingly.

Pursuant to the agreement entered into between the Company and Harvest Trinity Limited for the disposal of 

the edible oils business (the “Disposal”) in 2013, the Company undertook to indemnify Harvest Trinity Limited 

for further tax liabilities, including the aforesaid protective assessments, relating to periods prior to the date of 

completion of the Disposal. In the opinion of the management, adequate tax provision had been made by the 

Edible Oils Group before the date of completion of the Disposal.

29.	 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

In addition to those related party transactions and balances disclosed elsewhere in the financial statements, 

the Group had the following compensation to key management personnel during the year:

2015 2014

HK$’000 HK$’000

Short-term employee benefits 6,891 6,869

Post-employment benefits 145 138

Equity-settled share-based payment 413 –

Total compensation paid to key management personnel 7,449 7,007

Further details of directors’ emoluments are included in note 8 to the financial statements.
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30.	 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES
The Group’s principal financial instruments comprise interest-bearing bank loans, and cash and short-term 
deposits. The main purpose of these financial instruments is to raise finance for the Group’s operations. 
The Group has various other financial assets and liabilities such as accounts receivable, other receivables, 
accounts payable, other payables and accrued charges, which arise directly from its operations.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments are interest rate risk, foreign currency risk, credit 
risk, liquidity risk and commodity price risk. The board of directors reviews and agrees policies for managing 
each of these risks, which are summarised below.

Interest rate risk

The Group’s exposure to the risk of changes in market interest rates relates primarily to the Group’s bank 
loans carrying floating interest rates. The Group monitors its interest rate exposure closely and considers 
taking measures to reduce significant interest rate exposure, if necessary.

Foreign currency risk

The Group operates mainly in Hong Kong and Mainland China and its monetary assets, liabilities and 
transactions are principally denominated in Hong Kong dollars, Renminbi or United States dollars.

The management monitors the Group’s foreign exchange exposure and will consider hedging significant 
foreign currency exposure when the need arises.

Given that the Hong Kong dollar is pegged to the United States dollar, the Group does not have a foreign 
currency hedging policy on it. The translation differences arising from fluctuation in the exchange rate of 
Renminbi are reflected in the Group’s equity and profit after tax, where appropriate.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity at the end of the reporting period to reasonably possible 
change in the Renminbi exchange rate, with all other variables held constant, of the Group’s profit after tax.

Increase/

(decrease) in

RMB rate

Increase/

(decrease) in

the Group’s

profit after tax

% HK$’000

2015

If Hong Kong dollar weakens against RMB 5 4,797

If Hong Kong dollar strengthens against RMB (5) (4,797)

2014

If Hong Kong dollar weakens against RMB 5 3,887

If Hong Kong dollar strengthens against RMB (5) (3,887)
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30.	 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)

Credit risk

It is the Group’s policy that all customers who wish to trade on credit terms are subject to credit verification 

procedures. In addition, receivable balances are monitored on an ongoing basis. With such policies in place, 

the Group has been able to maintain its bad debts at a reasonable level. Concentrations of credit risk are 

managed by customer/counterparty and by geographical region. There are no significant concentrations of 

credit risk within the Group as the customer bases of the Group’s accounts receivable are widely diversified 

to a large number of customers.

Further quantitative data in respect of the Group’s exposure to credit risk arising from accounts receivable are 

disclosed in note 15 to the financial statements.

Liquidity risk

The Group monitors its risk to a shortage of funds using a recurring liquidity planning tool. This tool considers 

the maturity of both its financial instruments and financial assets (e.g. accounts receivable) and projected 

cash flows from operations.

The Group’s objective is to maintain a balance between continuity of funding and flexibility through the use of 

bank loans to meet its working capital and capital expenditure requirements.

The maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities as at the end of the reporting period, based on the 

contractual undiscounted payments, was less than one year.

Commodity price risk

The major raw materials used in the production of the Group’s products include beef, chicken meat and pork. 

The Group is exposed to fluctuations in the prices of these raw materials which are subject to global as well 

as regional supply and demand and other factors. Fluctuations in the prices of raw materials could adversely 

affect the Group’s financial performance. The Group did not enter into any commodity derivative instruments 

to hedge the potential commodity price changes during the years ended 31 December 2015 and 2014.

Capital management

The primary objectives of the Group’s capital management are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue 

as a going concern and to maintain healthy capital ratios in order to support its business and maximise 

shareholders’ value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it in light of changes in economic 

conditions. To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the dividend payment to 

shareholders, return capital to shareholders or issue new shares. No changes were made in the objectives, 

policies or processes for managing capital during the years ended 31 December 2015 and 2014.
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30.	 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)

Capital management (Continued)

The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is expressed as a percentage of interest-bearing 

bank loans over equity attributable to equity holders of the Company. The gearing ratios as at the end of the 

reporting periods were as follows:

2015 2014

HK$’000 HK$’000

Interest-bearing bank loan – 30,000

Equity attributable to equity holders of the Company 447,934 420,525

Gearing ratio – 7%

31.	 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE COMPANY

Information about the statement of financial position of the Company at the end of the reporting period is as 

follows:

2015 2014

HK$’000 HK$’000

NON-CURRENT ASSETS

Investments in subsidiaries 3,507,941 3,530,349

CURRENT ASSETS

Due from subsidiaries 21,474 42,000

Prepayments and other receivables 1,016 974

Cash and cash equivalents 510 288

Total current assets 23,000 43,262

CURRENT LIABILITIES

Other payables and accrued charges 5,042 4,174

Interest-bearing bank loan – 30,000

Total current liabilities 5,042 34,174

NET CURRENT ASSETS 17,958 9,088

NET ASSETS 3,525,899 3,539,437

EQUITY

Issued share capital 1,007,043 1,000,629

Reserves (note) 2,518,856 2,538,808

TOTAL EQUITY 3,525,899 3,539,437
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31.	 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE COMPANY (Continued)
Note:

A summary of the Company’s reserves is as follows:

Share
premium
account

Share-
based

payment
reserve

Contributed
surplus

Accumulated
losses Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

At 1 January 2014 4,044,691 5,461 16,674 (31,992) 4,034,834
Loss and total comprehensive expenses 
  for the year – – – (1,471,010) (1,471,010)
Transfer of share option reserve upon lapse 
  of share options – (306) – 306 –
Final 2013 dividend (note 11) (25,016) – – – (25,016)

At 31 December 2014 and 1 January 2015 4,019,675 5,155 16,674 (1,502,696) 2,538,808
Profit and total comprehensive
  income for the year – – – 308 308
Issue of shares for share award scheme 1,732 – – – 1,732
Equity-settled share-based payment – 3,184 – – 3,184
Final 2014 dividend (note 11) (25,176) – – – (25,176)

At 31 December 2015 3,996,231 8,339 16,674 (1,502,388) 2,518,856

The Company’s contributed surplus represents the difference between the nominal value of shares of 

HK$0.10 each of the Company allotted under a reorganisation whereby Hop Hing Holdings Limited (“HHHL”), 

the then ultimate holding company of the Group, became a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, and 

the consolidated shareholders’ equity of HHHL and its subsidiaries as at 25 April 2008, the date on which 

this reorganisation became effective. Details of this reorganisation were set out in HHHL’s scheme document 

dated 14 March 2008.

The share-based payment reserve comprises the fair value of share options granted which are yet to be 

exercised, as further explained in the accounting policy for share-based payment transactions in note 2.4 to 

the financial statements. The amount will either be transferred to the share premium account when the related 

options are exercised, or be transferred to retained profits should the related options expire or be forfeited.

Pursuant to the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands, the net amount of reserves distributable to 

shareholders of the Company as at 31 December 2015 was HK$2,510,517,000 (2014: HK$2,533,653,000), 

the distribution of which is subject to the condition that, immediately following the date on which the dividend 

is proposed to be distributed, the Company will be in a position to pay off its debts as and when they fall due 

in the ordinary course of business.
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32.	 PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as follows:

Name

Place of
incorporation/

registration
and operations

Issued
share capital/

registered and
fully paid

share capital

Percentage
of equity

attributable to
the Company

Principal
activities

Hop Hing Fast Food Group
  Holdings Limited

British Virgin
Islands

US$46,509 100 Investment
holding

Beijing Nanhe Hua Nong
  Agricultural Company Limited*

People’s Republic
of China/

Mainland China

RMB2,000,000 100 Agricultural
operation

Beijing Yoshinoya Fast Food
  Company Limited*

People’s Republic
of China/

Mainland China

RMB18,770,000 100 Fast food
restaurant
operation

Champ Base Investments Limited Hong Kong HK$1 100 Provision of
management

services

Dalian Hexing Fast Food
  Company Limited*

People’s Republic
of China/

Mainland China

US$800,000 100 Fast food
restaurant
operation

Harbin Hop Hing Catering
  Management Limited*

People’s Republic
of China/

Mainland China

RMB2,000,000 100 Fast food
restaurant
operation

Hawick Limited Hong Kong HK$1,000,000 100 Investment
holding

Hop Hing Fast Food China North
  Investment Company Limited

British Virgin
Islands

US$1 100 Provision of
management

services

Hop Hing Fast Food Limited Hong Kong HK$7,000,000 100 Provision of
management

services

Hop Hing Franchise Limited Hong Kong HK$1 100 Provision of
management

services
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32.	 PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

Name

Place of
incorporation/

registration
and operations

Issued
share capital/

registered and
fully paid

share capital

Percentage
of equity

attributable to
the Company

Principal
activities

Hop Hing QSR Investments Limited Hong Kong HK$1 100 Provision of
management

services

HuHeHaoTe Hop Hing Catering
  Management Company Limited*

People’s Republic
of China/

Mainland China

RMB500,000 100 Fast food
restaurant
operation

Liaoning Hop Hing Fast Food
  Company Limited*

People’s Republic
of China/

Mainland China

HK$9,100,000 100 Fast food
restaurant
operation

*	 Registered as wholly-foreign-owned enterprises under the PRC law

Except for Hop Hing Fast Food Group Holdings Limited, all the above principal subsidiaries are indirectly held 

by the Company.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in the opinion of the directors, principally 

affected the results for the year or formed a substantial portion of the net assets of the Group. To give details 

of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors, result in particulars of excessive length.

33.	 APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 24 March 2016.
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A summary of the published results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group for the last five financial years is set 

out below.

Year ended 31 December

2015 2014 2013 2012 2011

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

RESULTS

CONTINUING OPERATIONS

Turnover 2,050,053 2,157,873 2,110,664 1,971,321 1,644,742

Profit from operating activities

  from continuing operations 94,099 48,284 86,902 203,462 198,893

Finance costs (1,507) (1,388) (2,441) (2,648) (1,682)

Profit before tax from

  continuing operations 92,592 46,896 84,461 200,814 197,211

Income tax expense (26,804) (11,531) (18,785) (56,255) (56,109)

Profit for the year from

  continuing operations 65,788 35,365 65,676 144,559 141,102

DISCONTINUED OPERATION

Profit/(loss) for the year from

  a discontinued operation – – (51,696) (364) 15,219

Profit for the year 65,788 35,365 13,980 144,195 156,321

Attributable to:

  Equity holders of the Company 65,788 35,365 13,980 129,834 75,348

  Non-controlling interests – – – 14,361 80,973

65,788 35,365 13,980 144,195 156,321
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As at 31 December

2015 2014 2013 2012 2011

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

ASSETS

Property, plant and equipment 212,409 250,870 301,148 461,635 405,789

Prepaid land lease payments – – – 26,889 27,268

Trademarks – – – 125,299 124,310

Deferred tax assets 26,789 21,263 11,047 1,340 476

Prepayment and rental deposits 45,945 44,264 50,820 41,105 32,629

Current assets 548,103 539,948 467,283 720,895 915,140

TOTAL ASSETS 833,246 856,345 830,298 1,377,163 1,505,612

LIABILITIES

Current liabilities 368,879 422,825 401,172 654,716 850,581

Deferred tax liabilities 16,433 12,995 11,461 7,400 12,918

TOTAL LIABILITIES 385,312 435,820 412,633 662,116 863,499

NET ASSETS 447,934 420,525 417,665 715,047 642,113
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